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OUR MISSION IS
“TO BE THE BEST PROVIDER OF ONLINE LOTTERIES AND 

OTHER ELECTRONICALLY DISTRIBUTED PRODUCTS AND 

SERVICES.”

CORE VALUES:
ETHICAL BUSINESS PRACTICES AT ALL TIMES

FAIRNESS IN ALL EFFORTS

EXCELLENCE IN OUR PERFORMANCE

KEEP ALL PROMISES

RESPECT AND CONSIDERATION FOR ALL
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Chairman’s
Statement

The year under review was an eventful 
one for the Supreme Ventures Group. 
Of significant note is the departure of 
our former Chairman, Mr Paul Hoo.  It 
is left to me to recognize his significant 
contribution, as a founding Director, to 
the Company’s success.  

We also welcomed our new President & 
CEO, Mrs Ann-Dawn Young Sang, who 
took up her position in October of last 
year, filling the void left by the untimely 
2016 passing of Mr Brian George, whose 
legacy as a pivotal player in SVL’s success 
to date, still lives on. On behalf of the 
Board, I wish Ann-Dawn every success 
in her role, which she has passionately 
immersed herself into. I also take this 
opportunity to recognize the contribution 
of Mr James “Danny” Morrison, who 
acted in the role of President & CEO 
after Mr George’s passing.  

Having taken over from Mr. Hoo, 
in my capacity as a Non-Executive, 
Independent Chairman – the first in the 

Company’s history - I readily admit that 
I quickly realized that Paul’s involvement 
in and with the Company would be a 
hard act to follow. I am nevertheless 
committed to giving the Company my 
very best.

Quite apart from the events heretofore 
mentioned, 2017 can be described as a 
milestone year for Supreme Ventures. It 
was the year we celebrated our “Sweet” 
16th Anniversary, and saw the successful 
diversification of our product offerings 
- primarily through the acquisition of 
Caymanas Park. At the end of the year, 
the hard work and dedication of our 
team at all levels, resulted in a record 
year of profits for the Supreme Ventures 
Group. That is the genesis of this year’s 
Annual Report, which highlights the 
commitment of our people in all pursuits 
undertaken by the Company, and the 
resultant performance, of which we are 
proud.
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As the new Chairman of the Group, with a 
Board comprising an impressive blend of new 
and long-standing Directors, I am optimistic 
about what lies ahead for the Group. The 
composition and experience of the Board, 
along with the strength of the Management 
team, and motivated employees, are the 
critical factors that will ensure that our goals 
and objectives are attained. 

While the Group’s year-over-year net profit 
performance was relatively flat due to non-
cash impairment losses, the Group’s revenues 
grew by 25%, with approximately 14% of this 
growth being organically generated from 
non-Horse Racing operations. The Group 
benefited from Management’s successful 
execution of its cost management programme, 
enabling adequate cash generation to reward 
stockholders with significantly increased 
dividend payments and substantial returns on 
invested capital.  

The improved operating results were also 
positive for the government, as the Group 
paid out $5.4 billion in taxes (excluding 
corporate income tax), licences and fees.  This 
represented an approximately 17% increase 
over 2016, with the largest components being 
lottery and gaming taxes, Good Cause fees 
paid to the Culture, Health, Arts, Sports and 
Education (CHASE) Fund and contributions to 
the Betting Gaming and Lotteries Commission 
(BGLC).

We celebrate those achievements, even while 
we recognise that there is more to be done 
to maximise the potential that exists within 
the Supreme Ventures Group. We continue to 
work to build Supreme Ventures Racing and 
Entertainment Limited (SVREL), to establish 
that entity as the premier Horse Racing and 
Entertainment facility in the region, and one of 
the finest in the Caribbean.

We are also examining our suite of gaming 
product offerings, as well as our service levels, 
to maintain relevance, innovation, consistency 
and quality with each instance of engagement 
and interaction.  

As is always the case, we remain mindful of 
our responsibility not only to our shareholders 
to grow the Company and give them good 
returns, but also our obligation to play our part 
in improving Jamaica.

We are therefore proud of the work we did 
throughout the year to touch and change 
lives, communities and organisations and look 
forward to making this an even bigger focus 
for 2018.

Our commitment to our shareholders and 
stakeholders, is to consistently and compliantly 
employ and execute winning strategies for 
the business, which will comprehensively and 
cohesively expand the growth, reach and 
impact of the SVL Group.  

On behalf of the SVL Board, I thank the Senior 
Management team and the dedicated team 
members for their output in 2017. Despite 
changes and some challenges, everyone stayed 
focused on the task at hand, to the Company’s 
success.

To our agent network, we reiterate our 
commitment to solid service delivery, as your 
success is our success. Thanks also to the key 
stakeholder groups and agencies which make 
our operations possible.

To our shareholders, we appreciate your 
confidence in the SVL Group. Your best 
interest is at the core of what we do. We 
remain committed to your satisfaction 
throughout 2018 and beyond.

The significant truth is that there is no SVL 
without our customers. We are fully aware 
of this. Thanks to you, our customers for your 
patronage. We sincerely appreciate you. We 
ask for your continued support as we continue 
to responsibly provide you with entertainment 
options, through ‘games people love to play 
and more.’ 

I described the year under review as being 
eventful. I now describe the upcoming year as 
exciting.  This excitement is driven by many 
new initiatives, including the possibility of 
expanding outside of Jamaica, as well as 
innovations in the local market.  I am confident 
that these new initiatives will redound to the 
benefit of the Company. 
   

David McConnell
Chairman
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The following are a few macroeconomic indicators which influenced the local business 
environment in 2017.

Figure 1: Macroeconomic Indicators

Indicator 2017 2016 Change

GDP Growth (estimated) 0.5% 1.4% -0.9pp

Debt to GDP 124% 122% -2pp

Inflation 5.25% 1.7% -3.5pp

Debt 2.18 Tn 2.15 Tn 1.4%

Exchange Rate J$125.00 J$128.44 2.75%

NIR US$3.21Bn US$2.72Bn 18%

Unemployment Rate 10.4% 12.9% 2.5pp

Tourist Arrivals 4,300,241 3,837,249 12%

Stock Market Performance 288,382.97 192,276.64 49.98%

Business & Consumer Confidence 142.6 & 148.0 142 & 151.6 0.6 pp & -3.6 pp

The presentation and content of this 
Management Discussion and Analysis 
(MD&A) is the responsibility of the 
Management of Supreme Ventures Limited 
and its subsidiaries (“SVL Group”, “the 
Supreme Ventures Group”, “the Group”, 
“we” and “our”).  The objective of this 
MD&A is to provide more context for the 
Group’s performance for its 2017 financial 
year relative to previous years as well as 
to highlight significant components of 
the Group’s financial position as at 31st 
December 2017.  This MD&A should be read 
in conjunction with the Group’s financial 
statements and accompanying notes 
which have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and audited by KPMG. All 
amounts are presented in Jamaica dollars, 
unless otherwise indicated.

MACRO-ECONOMIC 
ENVIRONMENT

The continued stability, and return 
to growth, in the Jamaican economy 
provided a solid platform for the Group’s 
performance during the financial year. 
There was also relative stability and 
strong growth prospects in the global 

environment, and in particular the United 
States’ economy, on which Jamaica 
depends heavily. 

These factors resulted in more jobs 
being created in the Jamaican economy.  
Increased buoyancy in the Jamaican 
economy, low levels of inflation, stability 
in the exchange rate, and continued 
high business and consumer confidence 
provided a positive environment in which 
the Group achieved significant revenue 
growth.

The Government’s decreased appetite for 
debt, and lower debt to GDP ratio, meant 
that more money would be available for 
private sector lending and investment. 
This resulted in the highest levels seen in 
some time, of private sector credit and 
increasing consumer loans. This, combined 
with the high confidence levels, led to 
increased spending on consumer items, 
including gaming and entertainment.

The SVL Group expects this trend to 
continue and improve in 2018 and is 
positioning itself for the opportunities. We 
see the high crime rate as the main risk to 
this positive momentum and we hope this 
will be addressed with urgency.
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FIVE YEAR
STATISTICAL REVIEW

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Income Statement

Total Revenue ($'000)  56,186,633  44,921,339  43,847,020  41,309,545  34,140,265 

Gross Profit ($'000)  5,628,522  4,108,502  3,722,847  3,331,398  4,057,966 

Operating Expenses ($'000)  3,115,028  2,468,415  2,589,222  2,390,951  2,516,473 

EBITDA ($'000)  2,638,877  1,837,015  1,925,445  1,414,415  944,843 

Profit After Taxation  ($'000)  1,196,954  1,178,468  1,183,750  929,917  482,569 

Balance Sheet Information 

Total Assets  ($'000)  6,175,160  5,433,350  5,900,514  5,323,844  5,656,846 

Long Term Liabilities  ($'000)  592,583  26,604 -  7,951  90,309 

Working Capital  ($'000)  1,396,777  965,449  748,896  1,146,514  477,467 

Stockholders Equity  ($'000)  3,121,224  3,800,201  3,594,037  4,045,385  3,642,919 

Cash Flow Analysis

Trade and Other Receivables ($'000)  1,002,229  864,100  752,155  664,479  468,672 

Cash and Cash Equivalents  ($'000)  2,440,750  1,499,908  1,639,049  2,227,493  1,474,083 

Retained Earnings  ($'000)  1,091,555  1,767,052  1,564,368  2,015,716  1,613,250 

Cash provided by Operating Activities ($'000)  2,416,475  894,412  1,343,488  1,495,188  779,667 

Capital Expenditure ($'000)  522,948  183,286  136,441  105,865  226,259 

Dividends(1) ($'000)  1,476,864  949,412  1,081,274  659,313  448,334 

Special Dividends ($'000)  685,686 -  606,569 - -

Financial Ratios

Return on Equity 38.35% 31.01% 32.94% 22.99% 13.25%

Return on Assets 19.38% 21.69% 20.06% 17.47% 8.53%

Current Ratio 1.57 1.61 1.41 1.62 1.30

Effective Tax Rate 35.11% 29.09% 26.70% 23.51% 32.14%

Operating Expenses Ratio 5.54% 5.49% 5.91% 5.79% 7.37%

Return to Stockholders

Earnings per stock (cents) 45.39 44.69 44.89 35.26 18.30 

Dividends per stock (cents) 82.00 36.00 41.00 25.00 17.00 

Dividend Yield 7.11% 6.86% 8.84% 12.50% 6.12%

Dividend Payout Ratio 123.38% 80.55% 91.33% 70.90% 92.90%

Total Return to Stockholders 135.24% 20.91% 152.50% -19.06% -1.67%

Price Earnings Ratio 25.40 11.75 10.34 5.67 15.19

Book Value Per Stock ($) $1.18 $1.44 $1.36 $1.53 $1.38

Stock Prices 

Closing Stock Price (JSE) $11.53 $5.25 $4.64 $2.00 $2.78

Percentage change in stock price 119.62% 13.15% 132.00% -2.46% -5.00%

Other Data 

Annual Inflation 5.2% 1.7% 3.7% 6.4% 9.5%

Exchange Rate US$1.00 = J$ $125.00 $128.44 $120.42 $114.66 $106.38

Cash Pot Liability 71.21% 71.61% 71.30% 74.38% 74.54%

(1) Dividends represented here reflect the amounts declared and paid in respect of each year
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE

Figure 2: Revenues

The Supreme Ventures Group achieved 
significant organic and acquisitive 
growth in 2017. This resulted in record 
levels of gross revenues achieved of 
approximately $56 billion, representing a 
25% increase over 2016.  This, combined 
with an effective cost management 
programme, resulted in a 44% increase 
in profit from operations, which 
surpassed the $2 billion mark for the 
first time in the Group’s 16-year history.

Figure 3: EBITDA and Net Profit

The 2017 net profit of approximately 
$1.2 billion represents a minimal (1.6%) 
increase over 2016, due mainly to the 
impact of just over $471 million in 
non-cash, non-routine impairment 
adjustments related to investment 
properties and VLT gaming licences. 

Based on the current market and 
regulatory environment, Management 
considered it prudent to recognise an 
impairment loss on all inactive VLT 
gaming licences.  The impairment loss 
on investment properties was based on 
professional valuations undertaken, and 
market offerings.

Approximately 11% ($4.8 billion) of the 
Group’s growth in overall gross revenues 
are attributable to the acquisition of 
the Caymanas Park operations on 
March 7, 2017.  Revenues generated from 
Caymanas Park’s Horse Racing and 
complementary products have improved 
commendably over the comparative 
periods of the pre-acquisition era.

Revenues from the Group’s non-Horse 
Racing segments increased by 14% 
over 2016, primarily due to successful 
implementation of business growth 
initiatives in the Lotteries, VLT Gaming 
and PIN Code segments. Our 2017 focus 
for the Sports Betting business was 
on profitability, rather than revenue 
generation, which has resulted in 
significantly reduced losses despite the 
flat revenues for this segment.

Continuing on the effectiveness of its 
cost management programme over 
the past three (3) years, the Group was 
successful in improving its operating 
expense (expense to revenue) ratio for 
2017, remaining relatively stable (2017: 
5.54%; 2016: 5.49%).  Despite overall 
operating expenses increasing due to 
additional costs introduced in 2017 
from the Caymanas Park acquisition, 
the Group was still able to realise 
cost-efficiency gains in the areas of 
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marketing and business development, 
subscriptions and donations, and bad 
debts.

Figure 4: Operating Expenses Ratio

Management has been progressively 
adopting a more targeted approach 
towards sponsorships and donations.  

Additionally, effective utilisation of in-
house capabilities along with strategic 
shifts in our collection mechanism have 

resulted in significant reductions in bad 
debts, with the Group collecting 99.4% 
of revenues generated across its island-
wide terminal network. 

Other gains include $117 million in 
contractual reimbursements from the 
Group’s major service provider, IGT, as 
well as gain on disposal of available-for-
sale investments.

On the strength of cash generated 
from its operations, the Group grew 
its interest income by approximately 
37% through the prudent employment 
of excess funds.  Finance costs were 
incurred from loans acquired and 
interest implicit in the finance lease 
arrangement for the Caymanas facility.
2017’s effective tax rate of 35.11% was 
significantly affected by the non-cash 
impairment adjustments, which are not 
allowable expenses for tax purposes.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Revenue 56,186,633 44,921,339 43,847,020 41,309,545 34,140,265

Direct Expenses (50,558,111) (40,812,837) (39,429,684) (37,586,698) (30,808,867)

Gross Profit 5,628,522 4,108,502 4,417,336 3,722,847 3,331,398

Operating Expenses (excluding depreciation and 
impairment) (3,115,028) (2,468,415) (2,589,222) (2,390,951) (2,516,473)

Operating Profit 2,513,494 1,640,087 1,828,114 1,331,896 814,925

Net Foreign Exchange Loss and Gain 628 11,988 8,101 6,016 30,707

Other Gains 124,755 184,940 89,230 76,503 99,211

EBITDA 2,638,877 1,837,015 1,925,445 1,414,415 944,843

Depreciation, Amortization, and impairment 
losses (823,714) (241,353) (279,451) (257,985) (251,673)

Impairment of Investment Property - - (102,729) - -

EBIT 1,815,163 1,595,662 1,543,265 1,156,430 693,170

Interest Income 90,995 66,553 74,538 75,655 46,408

Finance Cost (61,491) (323) (2,973)  (16,344) (28,486)

Profit Before Taxation 1,844,667 1,661,892 1,614,830 1,215,741 711,092

Taxation (647,713) (483,424) (431,080) (285,824) (228,523)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 1,196,954 1,178,468 1,183,750 929,917 482,569

Discontinued Operations - - - - -

Profit for the year 1,196,954 1,178,468 1,183,750 929,917 482,569

Other Comprehensive Income (3,480) 3,480 - - -

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 1,193,474 1,181,948 1,183,750 929,917 482,569

Earnings per stock (cents) 45.39 cents 44.69 cents 44.89 cents 35.26 cents 18.30 cents
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REVIEW OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

Notwithstanding the impairment 
adjustments recognised, with the 
expanded bandwidth, primarily 
afforded by the Caymanas acquisition, 
the Group’s asset base grew by 
approximately 14% to over $6 billion.  
This growth also included over $200 
million in critical capital expenditure 
to support and enhance the Group’s 
revenue-generation capacity in primarily 
the Horse Racing and Lottery segments.  

Another significant component of the 
asset growth is increased cash and 
cash equivalents. This growth was 
funded from the cash generated by 
core operations with $1.2 billion or 76% 
more cash being generated in 2017.  This 
translated to an increase of over $900 
million in cash balances at end of 2017 
net of capital expenditures and dividend 
distributions.

The growth in trade and other 
receivables was a function of the 
increased revenues generated, as well 
as the timing of the collection cycle, 
which resulted in eight (8) sales days 
not yet due for collection at the end of 
2017, compared to seven (7) such days 
at the end of 2016.  Consistent with 
the collection record, over 99% of all 
sales uncollected at end of 2017 were 
subsequently collected in the first week 
of January, 2018.

The majority of long-term receivables, 
representing the loan arrangement with 
ICE Jamaica Limited, was paid off in the 
last quarter of 2017.  The Group, through 
its major subsidiary, Prime Sports 
(Jamaica) Limited, continues in its 
partnership with ICE Jamaica Limited 
to roll-out its VLT “route” gaming 
operation.

Stockholder’s equity reduced by 
approximately 18% at comparative year-
ends, due primarily to special dividend 
distributions and, to a lesser extent, the 
release of fair value reserves on disposal 
of certain equity holdings.

The Group capitalised on its low 
leverage to fund the Caymanas 
acquisition through debt stock, while still 
maintaining healthy debt ratios (long-
term debt-to-equity: 19%; total debt to 
total assets: 49%).  Increased business 
volumes account for the increase in 
prize liabilities and trade and other 
payables.  Income tax payable increased 
significantly as the quarterly tax 
payments were estimated from lower 
taxable profits in 2016.

DIVIDENDS & 
STOCKHOLDERS’ 
RETURNS

Following on its 2016 performance, 
the Company had another record year 
of performance on the Jamaica Stock 
Exchange (JSE), with its share price 
closing at the end of 2017 at $11.53, an 
increase of approximately 120% over 
the $5.25 traded at the end of 2016.  
Combined with the substantial dividend 
distributions in 2017, total return to 
stockholders for the calendar year was 
135.24% (2016: 20.91%).

Figure 5: Share Price Movement
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SEGMENT RESULTS
LOTTERY

With a portfolio of ten (10) active games, the 
Lottery portfolio continues to be the Group’s 
most dominant segment, accounting for 72% 
of overall gross revenue.  After a relatively 
flat 2016, the portfolio rebounded strongly 
in 2017 with a year-over-year revenue 
growth of 15%.  This was achieved through 
successful re-engagement of our agent base 
and effective game enhancements which 
connected with our players.  As detailed 
below, leading the recovery were the ever-
popular Cash Pot, Money Time and Pick 4 
games.

Figure 5: Cash Pot Revenue and Payout 

The Cash Pot game achieved a 14% uplift 
in sales and got off to a great start from 
the first quarter of 2017, with players 
encouraged by greater winning frequency.  
This sales momentum was sustained by the 
introduction of new game features, which 
offered players additional rewards. 

Not to be outdone, the Money Time game 
recorded a 20% revenue growth.  Sales 
growth for Money Time stayed on par 
with the Cash Pot game for the first three 
quarters of the year and accelerated even 
more with the introduction of a new feature 
to the game.

The Pick family of games (Pick 2, Pick 3 and 
Pick 4) also achieved notable revenue growth, 
which was also fuelled by the win frequency 
of popular bet options.

The jackpot-based games of Lucky 5, Top 
Draw, Dollaz, Lotto and Super Lotto also 
benefited from the high sales tide.

SPORTS BETTING

Despite flat revenues, the Sports Betting 
segment performed ahead of its projected 
path to profitability.  Management made 
a deliberate move to reduce its terminal 
footprint and placed even more focus on 
terminal yield.  This resulted in the successful 
re-set of the product and marketing 
strategies to set a solid foundation for 2018.
Management is also encouraged by the 
early results of the streamlining of this 
business segment, which resulted in a 79%, 
or $136 million, reduction in segment losses. 
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Of particular note is the positive quarterly 
performance trend of our Sports Betting 
business. While the segment accumulated 
losses of $38 million for the first three 
quarters of 2017, it produced a slight profit 
for the fourth quarter, which is consistent 
with Management’s business plan.

VLT GAMING

The approximately $19 million in profits 
recorded by the VLT Gaming segment 
signals the successful turnaround of this 
segment, as we capitalised on our enhanced 
Business-to-Consumer (B2C) capabilities at 
the Acropolis Barbican, to deliver compelling 
rewards to our player base.  An effective 
balance between player rewards, customer 
experience and game offerings is redounding 
to the segment’s benefit.

The VLT segment also benefited from the 
VLT route system roll-out, whereby small 
groups of VLT gaming machines are placed 
at third-party locations across the island 
(bars, shops, gaming centres, etc.) to offer 
additional entertainment and rewards 
options to gamers.  The initial phase of this 
increased roll-out strategy commenced in 
the last quarter of 2017, expanding in major 
capitals across the island, with subsequent 
phases now moving to surrounding 
communities. 

HORSE RACING

The approximately $4.8 billion in revenue 
generated by the Horse Racing segment 
represents approximately ten (10) months of 
operations, with the acquisition of Caymanas 
on March 7, 2017.  This revenue represents 
significant increases for comparative months 
in 2017 over 2016, with exceptional sales 
generated in the months of August (primarily 
from simulcast racing) and December 
(primarily from local racing).

The Group partnered with the BGLC to 
successfully execute another edition of the 
Diamond Mile event, including record sales 
levels.

The business plan for the Caymanas 
operations include significant investment and 
structural adjustment in order to turnaround 
the loss-making pattern and culture of the 
operations.  The Group is encouraged by 
the early results of the strategic initiatives 
implemented at the track. These include 
free entry to the park, increased purse size, 
earlier purse payments, facility upgrade, 
improved customer experience and greater 
attention to security of patrons.  This has 
resulted in new and renewed interest within 
the industry, with a significant increase in 
applications for ownership of horses and 
heightened interest from sponsors. 

PIN CODES

Revenues from the PIN Codes segment 
represent sale of phone credit from 
telecommunications providers. The segment 
continues a healthy growth trajectory. 
However, the approximately 15% increase 
for 2017 represents a slowing-down of 
the growth momentum from previous 
years with average annual growth rates 
of approximately 30%.  The segment is 
also being impacted by continual reduction 
in the discount rates received from the 
service providers, which compresses product 
margins.  Notwithstanding this challenge, 
the segment achieved increased operating 
profits on PIN Codes, with the segment 
results improving by 31% on the strength of 
revenue growth and greater cost efficiencies 
from shared services.

UNALLOCATED

‘Unallocated’ includes net rental income from 
investment properties as well as income 
and expenses associated with sub-leased 
properties.
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STRATEGIC 

OUTLOOK
2017 represented a watershed year for 
the Group.  This was evident with the 
acquisition of the Horse Racing business, 
successful recovery of lost momentum in 
the lotteries market and the significant 
progress made in the VLT Gaming 
and Sports Betting segments.  A key 
component of the strategic thrust of the 
Supreme Ventures Group is pedalling 
new growth cycles through product and 
market development, focusing on key 
strategic imperatives, which include, but 
are not limited to:

1. Capitalising on new product delivery 
channels – dynamic engagement 
of our customers through new and 
exciting  gaming solutions

2. Redefinition of our market – 
recognising the wider gaming and 
entertainment space in which the 
Group operates and re-tooling our 
customer engagement kit

3. More effective engagement 
of technology to build internal 
capacity and competitive strength 
– developing business intelligence 
capabilities and using technology 
to integrate product offerings and 
provide solutions that meet the needs 
of an evolved customer base

4. Innovative Product Offerings – 
continue to offer improved and 
further enhanced products and 
services

5. Expansion – replicating our local 
success in other frontiers

RISK MANAGEMENT
Our Approach

We consider risk as anything that could 
significantly affect the achievement of 
our business objectives.  Therefore, the 
Group is exposed to many different types 
of risks through the various activities 
performed in fulfilment of its objectives. 

We classify our business objectives into 
four main areas:

1. Strategic Objectives – high-level 
organizational goals, aligned with the 
Group’s Vision and Mission

2. Operating Objectives – internal 
standards of efficiency and 
effectiveness

3. Financial Reporting Objectives – 
internal and external reporting 
requirements

4. Compliance Objectives – adherence 
to statutory and regulatory 
requirements

Our risk management framework is 
geared towards effective management 
of the risks related to the above 
objectives.  The Group takes an 
enterprise-wide approach to the 
identification, assessment, treatment 
and communication of risks.  The 
framework is developed based on 
the nature and extent of the Group’s 
activities and takes authoritative 
reference and/or guidance from the 
following sources:

 � Companies Act, 2004
 � Jamaica Stock Exchange rules and 

regulations
 � Other local statutory and regulatory 

requirements
 � Sarbanes Oxley Act (particularly, 

sections 302 and 404)
 � COSO Framework
 � ISO 31000:2009

Our Risk Management Structure

One of the main objectives of our risk 
management framework is to enhance 
our confidence and risk intelligence in 
seeking to maximize stakeholder returns 
while safeguarding existing assets.  The 
framework is administered through its 
different components, which are:

 � Board of Directors, including its Audit 
Committee

 � Senior Management & Business Units
 � Strategic Planning & Risk 

Management Unit
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The Board of Directors has overall 
responsibility for the establishment 
and oversight of the Group’s risk 
management framework.  One of the 
Board’s critical responsibilities is to set 
the Group’s risk appetite, which includes 
managing the risks affecting the Group’s 
strategic objectives.  The Board’s risk 
management mandate is carried out 
primarily through its Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has oversight 
for the management of risks relating 
to the Group’s financial reporting and 
internal control objectives.  This includes 
monitoring the systems for ensuring the 
integrity of the financial statements, 
reviewing the effectiveness of the 
systems of internal control, overseeing 
the risk management programme as 
well as setting and monitoring risk limits 
and controls.  Risk limits and controls 
are integral to the risk management 
process, as they characterize the Board’s 
risk tolerance as well as that of the 
Regulators.  

Senior Management and the Group’s 
Business Units support the entity’s risk 
management framework, promote 
compliance with its risk appetite, and 
manage risks within their spheres of 
responsibility based on risk limits set by 
the Board’s Audit Committee.  Business 
Units are responsible for the day-to-
day identification and response to 
risk exposures within their limits and 
the prompt communication of issues 
to Senior Management. The Group’s 
Business Units are intimate with the 
changing nature of risks facing our 
business and are often the first point of 
engagement, thereby being best able 
to act on our behalf in managing and 
mitigating those risks.  

The Group’s Regulatory Compliance 
function provides specific oversight 
and management of the Group’s 
adherence to regulatory requirements, 
including compliance with provisions 
of our trade licences, anti-money 
laundering requirements, reporting to 

the competent authority and overall 
effective engagement of regulatory 
bodies. Ongoing risk management 
support and oversight is provided by the 
Finance function.  One of the critical 
responsibilities of the Finance function 
is to establish and maintain effective 
systems for promoting risk intelligence 
and proper risk communication across 
the Group.  

The Finance function also works 
closely with the Group’s Internal Audit 
function. The scope and direction of all 
Internal Audit work is set and reviewed 
by the Board’s Audit Committee.  A 
key responsibility of our Internal 
Audit function is to provide objective 
assurance to the Board (through the 
Audit Committee) on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s risk management 
activities, to verify that key business 
risks are being managed appropriately 
and that the system of internal control 
is operating effectively. 

Therefore, the Internal Audit role plays 
a key role in evaluating the Group’s risk 
management processes and advocating 
their continued improvement.  

However, to preserve its organizational 
independence and objectivity, the 
Internal Audit function does not take 
any direct responsibility for making risk 
management decisions or executing the 
risk management processes.  Other key 
elements of the Group’s operational and 
strategic risk management framework 
include:

 � Core values
 � Business Continuity Planning, 

including succession planning and 
emergency preparedness & recovery 
plan

 � Systems security – Information and 
Physical
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Core Values

Our core values set the tone and are at the 
heart of the Group’s risk management policy.  
The Group’s core values are:

• Ethical business practices at all times
• Fairness in all efforts
• Keeping of all promises
• Excellence in our performance
• Respect and consideration for all

Integral to our Vision, is operating with integrity, 
the highest ethical standards and world-class 
business practices.  

Business Continuity Planning

The Group’s business continuity framework 
includes succession planning, emergency 
preparedness and recovery planning, insurance 
risk management, business impact and scenario 
analyses.  Our approach to business continuity 
planning (BCP) is to identify risks that can 
cause damage to the business and implement 
steps to mitigate these risks.  

Emergency Preparedness & Recovery Planning

In practical terms, a disaster is anything that 
can cause a disruption in the normal operations 
of a business. The Group’s emergency 
preparedness tools range from HR disaster 
and recovery plan, Information Technology 
security and redundancy plans, and physical 
security systems.  For business continuity, 
consideration is given to all critical resources 
required to keep our business going.  These 
considerations include the health and safety 
of our people, the integrity and stability of our 
product distribution systems, the security of 
our facilities and physical environment, and 
the reliability and safety of our information 
systems.

Succession Planning

The Group continuously develops its talent 
pool, building levels of feeder-groups across the 
entire leadership progression.  Our succession 
planning process includes the following key 
elements:
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1. Identification of key roles for 
succession planning

2. Definition of competencies and 
personnel profile required to perform 
effectively in these roles

3. Identify pools of talent with 
potential to perform effectively in 
these roles

4. Develop pools of talented employees 
for progression into these roles – 
experience and skill sets

Our succession planning not only 
incorporates planned availability, as 
people get promoted or retire, but it 
also includes unplanned vacancies due 
to resignations, terminations or even 
death.

Security Controls – Information & 
Physical Systems

The Group classifies its general and 
information security controls in different 
ways to increase the resilience and 
agility of our systems.  Controls are 
classified and assessed by the timing of 
when they are activated relative to the 
occurrence of a security incident: 

a. before the event (preventive)
b. during the event (detective)
c. after the event (corrective)

The Group also classifies and assesses 
its security controls by their nature:

a. Physical controls, i.e. locks, doors, 
physical storage of critical resources, 
etc.

b. Procedural controls, i.e. incident 
response protocols, security 
awareness and training, 
management review systems, etc.

c. Technical controls, i.e. user 
authentication (login) and logical 
access controls, anti-virus software, 
firewalls, etc.

d. Legal, regulatory and compliance 
controls, e.g. data confidentiality, 
privacy laws, human rights, etc.

The effectiveness of the Group’s 
information security systems is a 
critical part of the annual Internal 
Audit programme.  Recommendations 
are implemented on a timely basis 
and follow-up reviews are done by 
the Internal Auditors to confirm that 
changes are done in accordance with 
the objectives.  Information systems 
security checks include: user access 
controls, password controls, data 
back-up, incident response, system and 
information integrity.

The Group also places strong emphasis 
on physical security, incorporating the 
use of several layers of interlocking 
systems which include onsite and 
remote surveillance systems, armed and 
unarmed security guards, protective 
barriers, access control protocols and 
strategic collaborations with the armed 
forces.  Our physical security systems 
are generally designed to:

1. Deter potential intruders, e.g. 
warning signs, restricted access 
points, perimeter markings

2. Detect intrusions and monitor 
intruders, e.g. alarms, CCTV systems, 
and

3. Trigger appropriate incident 
responses, e.g. by Group security 
personnel, guards and police.

 
The Role of Policies & Procedures

Policies define and express the Group’s 
overall risk appetite and are developed 
based on the risk culture of our Business 
Units, and subject to the relevant 
regulatory requirements.  Policies set 
the boundaries on the types of risks the 
Group is prepared to assume and specify 
the manner in which the Group assumes 
these risks.  Appropriate policies and 
procedures are established throughout 
the organization and are approved by 
the Audit Committee. 
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Management of Business Risks

The main risks faced by the Supreme 
Ventures Group are identified as: 
financial risk (including credit risk, 
market risk, and liquidity risk), 
operational risk, regulatory and legal 
risk, and reputational risk. These are 
described below.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss from 
inadequate or failed internal processes, 
people and systems or from external 
events. Operational risk is embedded in 
all our activities and failure to manage 
it can result in direct or indirect financial 
loss, business disruption, regulatory 
censure, theft and fraud, workplace 
injury, penalties and corporate 
image impact. In managing this risk, 
we maintain a formal enterprise- 
wide operational risk management 
framework that emphasizes a strong 
risk management and internal control 
culture throughout the Group.

Regulatory and Legal Risk

Regulatory risk is the risk of not 
complying with the regulatory and 
comparable requirements. Legal risk is 
the risk of non-compliance with legal 
requirements, including the effectiveness 
of preventing and handling litigations. 
The Betting, Gaming and Lotteries 
industries are among the most closely 
regulated industries, locally and 
internationally, and the management of 
our business is expected to meet high 
standards in all business dealings and 
transactions. Failure to meet regulatory 
and legal requirements not only poses 
a risk of censure and penalty but is a 
serious reputational risk. Business Units 
are responsible for managing day-to-
day regulatory and legal risk, while the 
Compliance Unit along with our external 
advisory teams assist them by providing 
advice and oversight.  

Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited 
(PSJL), the Group’s principal operating 
subsidiary, is licensed by the Betting 
Gaming and Lotteries Commission 
and complies with strict regulatory 
requirements, with specific regards to its 
lottery licence, as shown below.

Ageing

Minimum 
Reserve 
Requirement 2017 2016

Requirement 
Met

Liquidity Ratio (cash to 
current liabilities) 75% 108% 88% 

Dedicated funding for Prizes 
and gaming taxes 100% 166% 150% 

Reputational Risk

Reputational risk is the potential that 
negative publicity, whether true or false 
regarding the institution’s business 
practices, action or inaction will or 
may cause a decline in the institution’s 
value, liquidity or customer base.  All risk 
can have an impact on the company’s 
reputation, which in turn can impact 
the brands, earnings and capital. The 
management of reputational risk is 
overseen by the Board of Directors and 
the Senior Management team.

Management of Financial Risks

The Group has exposure to the 
following risks from its use of financial 
instruments: credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk including interest rate risk, 
currency risk and price risk. Information 
about the Group’s exposure to each of 
the above risks, the Group’s objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring 
and managing risk is detailed in ensuing 
sections. 
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The Group’s activities expose it to a 
variety of financial risks and those 
activities involve the analysis, evaluation, 
acceptance and management of some 
degree of risk or combination of risks. 
Taking risk is core to the business and 
the operational risks are an inevitable 
consequence of being in business. The 
Group’s aim is therefore to achieve 
an appropriate balance between risk 
and return and minimise potential 
adverse effects on the Group’s financial 
performance.

The Group’s financial risk management 
policies are designed to identify and 
analyse these risks, to set appropriate 
risk limits and controls, and to monitor 
the risks and adherence to limits by 
means of reliable and up-to-date 
information systems. The Group 
regularly reviews its risk management 
policies and systems to reflect changes 
in markets, products and emerging best 
practices.

An enterprise-wide risk management 
approach is adopted which involves 
employees at all levels. This 
framework is supported by sound risk 
management practices which include 
the establishment of enterprise-
wide policies, procedures and limits, 
monitoring and measurement of 
exposure against established limits, 
ongoing realignment of business 
strategies and activities and the 
reporting of significant exposures to 
Senior Management and the Board of 
Directors.

The Board of Directors has overall 
responsibility for the establishment 
and oversight of the Group’s risk 
management framework. The 
Board’s risk management mandate is 
principally carried out through the Audit 
Committee.

The Audit Committee has oversight 
for the integrity of the financial 
statements and reviews the adequacy 
and effectiveness of internal controls 
and risk management procedures. The 

Committee also ensures compliance 
with internal, legal and regulatory 
policies, identifying, monitoring, 
measuring and reporting significant risk 
exposure and making recommendations 
in relation to management of risk.
This Audit Committee also oversees the 
management of financial instrument 
risk which includes credit, market and 
liquidity risks.

Credit Risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk, 
which is the risk that its customers or 
counterparties may default and could 
cause a financial loss for the Group by 
failure to discharge their contractual 
obligations. This arises principally 
from cash and cash equivalents, trade 
receivables, and long-term receivables. 
Credit risk is an important risk for the 
Group’s business, and management 
therefore carefully monitors its exposure 
to credit risk.

The Group controls credit exposure by 
maintaining a strict collection process. 
Lottery sale agents are required to 
remit cash collections weekly which 
are monitored on a weekly basis by 
identification and transfer to designated 
bank accounts. A process of suppression 
of agent activity is triggered for non-
compliance.

The Group’s credit risk is managed 
through a framework, with particular 
emphasis on the following items:

Cash and cash equivalents - The Group 
maintains cash resources with reputable 
financial institutions. The credit risk is 
considered to be low.

Summary of Group Trade Receivables 
(net of impairment)

Ageing 2017 2016

Up to 30 days 99.62% 99.31%

31 – 60 days 0.33% 0.28%

61 – 90 days 0.005% 0.41%

Over 90 days 0.00% 0.00%

100.00% 100.00%

24 People | Pursuits | Performance

M
D

&
A

Supreme Ventures Limited Annual Report 2017



Trade and long-term receivables - 
The Group establishes policies and 
procedures which govern standards 
for granting credit and the process 
of continuous monitoring and 
measurement in relation to credit 
quality through industry delinquency 
and debt recovery management.  
Trade receivables are monitored and 
managed by the Finance Department 
in collaboration with the Business 
Development team, which has 
responsibility for, amongst other things, 
liaising with the sales agents.

Market Risk

Market risk arises from changes in 
market prices and rates (including 
interest rates and foreign exchange 
rates), the correlations among them and 
their levels of volatility.  The objective of 
market risk management is to manage 
and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters, while optimising 
the return on risk. 

The Board and Management have 
responsibility for the monitoring 
of market risk exposures by way of 
measurements through sensitivity 
analysis. Market information and 
additional analysis are also used to 
manage risk exposure and mitigate the 
limitation of sensitivity analysis.

Summary of Foreign Currency Risk 
exposure

2017
USD‘000

2016 
USD‘000

Assets 2,545 1,680

Liabilities (435) (282)

Net exposure 2,110 1,398

There has been no material change to 
the Group’s exposure to market risks 
or the manner in which it manages and 
measures risk.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is 
unable to meet its financial obligations 
in a timely manner at reasonable 
prices.  Financial obligations include 
prize liabilities, other trade payables, 
long-term loans and leases.  Effective 
liquidity risk management is essential 
in order to maintain the confidence 
of our customers and counterparties, 
and improves our ability to continue to 
generate revenue, even under adverse 
conditions.  

Prudent liquidity risk management 
implies maintaining sufficient cash and 
marketable securities.  The Board of 
Directors approves the Group’s liquidity 
and funding management policies and 
establishes risk limits.

The Group’s Finance function has direct 
responsibility for the management of 
the day-to-day liquidity.  The Audit 
Committee provides added oversight 
over the Group’s liquidity risk exposure, 
within the policy and limits frameworks 
established by the Board.

The management of liquidity risk is 
carried out through various methods 
which include:

1. Day-to-day funding, managed by 
monitoring future cash flows to 
ensure that requirements can be met

2. Maintaining a portfolio of highly 
marketable assets that can easily be 
liquidated as protection against any 
unforeseen interruption to cash flow 
within the local and international 
markets

3. Monitoring statement of 
financial position liquidity ratios 
against internal and regulatory 
requirements; and

4. Maintenance of liquidity and funding 
contingency plans.
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2017 was a year of significant growth for 
Supreme Ventures, with the Group achieving 
record revenues of approximately $56 
billion, representing a 25% increase over 
2016.  This, combined with an effective cost 
management programme, resulted in a 44% 
increase in “Profit from Operations”, which 
surpassed the $2 billion mark.   

The 2017 net profit of approximately $1.2 
billion represents a minimal 1.6% increase 
over 2016, due to the impact of just over $471 
million in non-cash and non-routine, one-off 
impairment adjustments in order to reflect 
prudent valuations for our VLT licences and 
investment properties. 

The first quarter of 2017 started with the 
acquisition of the operations of Caymanas 
Park, which saw the Group effectively 
committing some $1.2 billion into the 
Caymanas operations. Revenues from all 
components of the Group’s Horse Racing 
business are showing an upward trend, and 
the Group has a strategic plan aimed at 
capitalising on the growth and synergistic 
opportunities within the business. We are 
confident about the future viability of the 
Caymanas operations.

Overall results from the Group’s non Horse-
Racing segments were strong, with year-
over-year revenues and segment results 
growing by approximately 14% and 69% 
respectively. The Group remains committed 
to rewarding shareholders’ confidence 
with sustained business growth and strong 

returns on their investments.  Accordingly, 
on February 26, 2018, the Board of Directors 
approved an ordinary dividend distribution 
of $0.12 per share payable on March 23, 2018 
to shareholders on record as at March 9, 
2018.  The Board of Directors also approved 
on February 26, 2018, a special dividend of 
$0.08 per share to be paid out of retained 
earnings as at December 31, 2018.  This 
special dividend was paid on March 23, 2018 
to shareholders on record as at March 9, 
2018.  The Group is pleased to have paid out 
71 cents to its shareholders in 2017, which 
almost doubled the 37 cents it paid out in 
2016.

The SVL Group is proud of our continued 
contribution to social development, with 
our 2017 contributions to the CHASE Fund 
totalling over $1.4 billion, adding to the over 
$10 billion we have contributed in the 10 
years up to 2016.

Our strong 2017 performance could not have 
taken place without our hardworking and 
dedicated team members, who remained 
focused on the overarching goal of building 
the business. They went above and beyond 
in working assiduously in the acquisition and 
incorporation of SVREL into the SVL Group, 
as well as in carrying out the other projects 
and initiatives throughout the year. I thank 
them sincerely for their commitment, which 
enabled SVL to achieve its 2017 performance. 

PRESIDENT &
CEO’S REPORT
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I must also express gratitude to 
our shareholders, in whose interest 
we continue to tirelessly work. We 
appreciate your continued confidence 
in SVL, and commit to keep working to 
give you returns on your investment.

To our stakeholders, especially our vast 
agent network, your contribution to 
SVL has been invaluable. Our promise is 
to play our part in maintaining mutual 
success.

As a proud, compliant entity, we thank 
our Regulators for their continued 
oversight and guidance. I am also 
grateful to our Board of Directors for 
their expertise as we forge ahead.
 
We are energised about our strategic 
development plans, which include 
dynamic engagement of our customers 
through new and exciting interactive 
gaming solutions and continued 
innovation in our current product 
offerings.  We are confident in the 
capabilities of our people and the 
effectiveness of our strategies, which 
enable us to sustain our offering of 
superior products to our customers and 
maximise shareholder value. 

Sincerely,
 

Ann-Dawn Young Sang
President & CEO
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Corporate 
Governance

The Board of Directors of Supreme 
Ventures Limited (SVL) is collectively 
responsible for the performance of 
the Company and its subsidiaries. 
One of the primary responsibilities of 
the Board of Directors is to ensure 
that the Company and its subsidiaries 
have a robust and effective corporate 
governance framework, which is vital to 
the preservation of shareholder value 
and confidence in the Group. A copy 
of the Group’s Corporate Governance 
Policy is available on our website at 
http://www.supremeventures.com.

The Board adopts an enterprise-wide 
approach to corporate governance by 
ensuring adherence to a uniform set 
of corporate governance policies and 
procedures throughout the Group. 
The Corporate Governance Code will 
be reviewed annually by the Board to 
ensure that it remains relevant and is in 
keeping with best practices.

SVL’s Corporate Governance Code 
documents the corporate governance 
framework of the group.  This ensures 
that the Company and all subsidiaries 
adhere to a standard corporate 
governance policy that represents best 
practices, inclusive of recommendations 
taken from the Private Sector 
Organization of Jamaica (PSOJ) 
Corporate Governance Code and the 
Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE) rules.

The Code:
a. Adopts best corporate governance 

practices implemented by a public  
company under the guidance of  the 
Board of Directors; 

b. Defines the procedures and 
processes to which the Group 
of Companies is directed and 
controlled;

c. Specifies the distribution of 
rights and responsibilities among 
the different participants in the 
organization such as the Board 
of Directors, the Management, 
shareholders and other stakeholders.

 
Board Responsibility

The Board’s primary responsibility is 
to provide strategic direction for the 
Company and approve Management’s 
business plans to effect the strategic 
and operational goals. The Board sets 
the strategic direction of the Company 
and ensures that it gives Management 
direction, where needed, to ensure 
that the goals are met. The Board also 
ensures the fair and equitable treatment 
of all stakeholders, including minority 
shareholders.

While executing its duties, the Board 
takes into account all parties whose 
interests are associated with those of 
the Company, as well as creditors and 
employees who are directly affected by 
the operation of the Company. 

At all times, Directors are expected to 
exercise sound independent business 
judgement in what they reasonably 
believe to be in the best interest of the 
Company. In discharging that obligation, 
the Directors rely on the honesty and 
integrity of the Company’s Senior 
Management, and expert Advisors, 
including Auditors.
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SVL’s Board met twelve (12) times 
during 2017 to ensure that the Board’s 
mandates were effectively addressed.  
The responsibility of the Board is 
outlined in an approved Board Charter 
which includes the following duties and 
functions:

• Provision of strategic direction 
for the Company and approval of 
Management’s business plans to 
effect the strategic and operational 
goals;

• Articulating the organization’s 
values, Vision, Mission and 
strategies; 

• Discussion and approval of annual 
budgets, capital expenditures, 
acquisitions and divestitures;

• Monitoring and evaluation of the 
performance of Senior Management 
and aligning executive remuneration 
with their qualification and 
experience;  

• Installation of effective and robust 
internal control systems and risk 
management procedures;

• Ensuring the integrity of the 
Company’s accounts and 
financial reporting systems and 
public disclosures, as well as the 
effectiveness of the systems 
of internal control and risk 
management;

• Monitoring the performance of the 
Board against the strategic goals 
determined;

• Review of Management 
performance;

• Ensuring that the Company’s 
obligations to shareholders are 
understood and met;

• Ensuring that Board Members 
behave ethically and promote 
throughout the Company behaviour 
that is consistent with the culture 
and values of a high-performing 
organization;

• The creation of the right framework 
that will enable Directors meet their 
statutory duties.

Size and Composition of the Board of 
Directors

As at 31st December 2017, the Board 
comprised twelve (12) Directors, chaired 
by Mr. W. David McConnell. The size 
and composition of the Board permit 
the Board to be effective in exercising 
its powers and duties. The number of 
Directors as guided by the Articles of 
Incorporation should not exceed twelve 
(12).

The Board’s composition reflects 
Directors drawn from diverse 
backgrounds, thereby creating a balance 
of independence, knowledge, experience, 
leadership skills and perspectives, to 
allow the Board to work effectively.  
SVL’s Directors are recognized as strong 
leaders in their respective fields of work. 
Our Directors take care in ensuring 
that decisions are made after careful 
deliberation of relevant information. 
The appointment and retirement of 
Directors shall be governed first by 
the Articles of Incorporation of the 
Company and thereafter by standards/
criteria imposed by the Board or the 
Company’s Regulators.

Designations include Chairman, Deputy 
Chairman, President & CEO, Executive 
Director(s), Non-Executive Director(s) 
and Independent Non-Executive 
Director(s).

Independence

In determining the independence 
of proposed candidates or current 
members, the Board of Directors should 
consider the person not Independent 
when he or she:

• Is or has been an employee, Senior 
Executive or Chairman of the Board 
of Directors of the Company or its 
subsidiaries within the last three (3) 
years;
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• Receives or has received during 
the twelve (12) months prior to his 
appointment any compensation from the 
Company other than Board membership 
fees approved by the General Meeting of 
Shareholders of the Company;

• Has or had within the past year a 
material business relationship with the 
Company or its subsidiaries, particularly 
as a significant client, supplier or 
consultant of the Company or as a 
partner, shareholder or Board member, 
or Senior Executive of an entity that has 
such a relationship with the Company or 
its subsidiaries;

• Has been the External Auditor of the 
Company or its subsidiaries or has been 
a partner or employee of a firm that 
provides external auditing services to the 
Company or its subsidiaries within the 
last three (3) years;

• Has a second degree kinship with or is 
the spouse of a Non-Independent Board 
member, Senior Executive, Adviser or 
significant shareholder of the Company 
or its subsidiaries;

• Controls directly or indirectly through 
related parties, more than 5% of 
the voting rights of the Company or 
represents a significant shareholder of 
the Company or its subsidiaries.

All Directors of the Company shall act 
independently and bring an independent 
mind to bear on matters coming before the 
Board.

The Term for Independent Directors to serve 
on the Board is seven (7) years, after which 
they are required to resign and will not be 
eligible for re-appointment. 

Directors shall notify the Board of any 
change in status that may affect their 
independence. When notified, the Board will 
evaluate the Directors’ independence.

Audit & Compliance Committee

The Audit and Compliance Committee 
was established by the Board to assist the 
Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight 
responsibilities for the financial reporting 
process, the system of internal controls, the 
audit process, and the Company’s process 
for monitoring compliance with laws and 
regulations and the Code of Conduct. The 
Terms of Reference of the Committee 
is governed by an approved charter. The 
quorum for the Committee meetings is three 
(3) and this must include two Independent 
members.

The functions of the Audit and Compliance 
Committee are as follows:

• To monitor the integrity of the Financial 
Statements of the Group. To review 
Annual and Interim Reports, preliminary 
results, announcements and any other 
formal announcement relating to 
financial performance;

• To review arrangements for employees;
• To review significant financial reporting 

issues and judgements, summary 
financial statements, financial returns to 
Regulators and any financial information 
to be reported in other documents which 
may impact share price;

• To keep under review the effectiveness of 
internal controls and risk management 
systems by examining steps taken by 
the Board and Management of SVL to 
control exposure to significant risks;

• To monitor and review the effectiveness 
of Internal Audit functions in the context 
of the overall risk management systems;

• To consider and make recommendations 
to the Board with respect to matters for 
approval at General Meetings, including 
the appointment, re-appointment 
and removal of the External Auditors. 
In addition, the Audit Committee will 
oversee the selection process for new 
Auditors and shall investigate issues 
leading to the resignation of Auditors 
where applicable;

• To oversee the relationship with the 
External Auditors;

• To review and approve the Annual Audit 
Plan and ensure that it is consistent with 
the scope of the audit engagement;

• To review findings of the External 
Auditors and in particular initiate 
discussions on issues which may have 
arisen during the audit, including 
accounting and auditing judgements and 
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levels of errors identified;
• To review the effectiveness of the 

services provided by the External 
Auditors.

The Committee members as at 31st 
December 2017 were:

• Mr. Ansel Howell – Chairman; 
Independent Director

• Mr. Richard Foreman – Independent 
Director

• Mr. Peter McConnell – Independent 
Director 

• Mr. Ian K. Levy

Finance Committee

The Finance Committee is the sub-
committee of the Board of Directors which 
is responsible for the financial management 
of the Company. The Chairman of the Board 
is the Chairman of this committee and may 
select up to four (4) Directors to serve on this 
Committee.

The Finance Committee provides assistance 
to the Board of Directors of the Company, in 
fulfilling its responsibility to the shareholders, 
in respect of the policies and practices that 
relate to the management of the financial 
affairs of the Company.

The Finance Committee’s primary purpose is 
to:
• Review Management’s plans to manage 

the Company’s exposure to financial risk;
• Review the Company’s business plan, 

cash plan, balance sheet, and capital 
structure;

• Recommend dividend actions to the 
Board of Directors;

• Review the Company’s capital allocation 
strategy, including the cost of capital;

• Review the Company’s capital 
appropriation matters, including 
recommending approval of those 
programmes requiring Board approval 
and providing periodic oversight of 
Board-approved programmes;

• Review the Company’s pension strategy 
and performance and health care costs 
and funding.

Messrs Gary Peart, Steven Hudson and Brent 
Sankar, and Mrs Ann-Dawn Young Sang were 
elected to serve on the Finance Committee, 
and remain members as at 31st December 
2017.   

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee was 
organized to assist the Board of Directors of 
the Company, in approving and monitoring 
guidelines and practices, with respect to 
the compensation and benefits of officers 
as well as administering the Company’s 
equity-based compensation plan. The 
Compensation Committee assists the Board 
in fulfilling its fiduciary responsibilities 
relating to: 

• The fair and competitive compensation 
of the Non-Employee Directors;

• The compensation, bonuses, and 
incentives of the Chief Executive Officer, 
Executive and other key employees of the 
Company; 

• The administration of the general 
employee welfare plans of the Company.

The Compensation Committee is authorized 
to obtain outside legal or independent 
professional advice and secure the 
attendance of outsiders with relevant 
experience and expertise if it considers this 
necessary.

The Compensation Committee comprises 
four (4) members. The Committee 
members as at 31st December 2017 were 
Mr. Christopher Berry, Mr. John Graham 
(supported by Alternate, Mr. Lance Hylton) 
and Mr. Richard Foreman.

Governance and Nomination Committee

The Governance and Nomination 
Committee’s role is to determine the slate 
of Director nominees for election to the 
Company’s Board of Directors, to review, 
evaluate and recommend changes to 
the Company’s Corporate Governance 
Guidelines, and to establish the process and 
guidelines for conducting the review of the 
Chief Executive Officer’s performance.

The Governance and Nomination Committee 
assists the Board:

• In ensuring that there is a formal, 
rigorous and transparent procedure for 
the appointment of new Directors to the 
Board;  

• To identify and recommend qualified 
candidates to fill vacancies occurring 
between Annual Shareholder Meetings;

• To assist the Board of Directors in 
organizing itself to discharge its duties 
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and responsibilities properly and 
effectively;

• To review, evaluate and recommend 
changes to the Company’s Corporate 
Governance and Nomination Guidelines;

• To perform such other duties and 
responsibilities enumerated in and 
consistent with this Charter.

The following Directors were elected to serve 
and remain members as at 31st December 
2017:

• Mr. Ian Levy (Chairman)
• Mr. Christopher Berry

• Mr. Steven Hudson
• Mr. Brent Sankar

External Auditors
During the Financial Year under review, 
Messrs KPMG served as Auditors of the 
Company. 

Attendance at Board and Committee 
Meetings
The attendance of the Directors of SVL at 
the Board and Committee meetings for the 
period ended 31st December 2017 is reflected 
in the table below

Directors Board
Audit 
Committee

Finance 
Committee

Compensation 
Committee

Governance 
Committee

Annual 
General 
Meeting

W. David McConnell**** Î 3 - - - - -

Paul Hoo * 7 - 4 - 1 1

James Morrison** 5 4 3 1 1 1

Ann-Dawn Young Sang**** 7 1 2 1 - -

Ian Levy 10 7 - - 1 1

John Graham 9 - 4 1 1 1

Steven Hudson 12 - 5 1 - 1

Georgios Sampson*** 6 4 1 - - 1

Nikolaos Nikolakopoulos*** 5 - 2 1 - 1

Brent Sankar 12 - 5 - - 1

Peter Chin Î** 7 5 - - - 1

Ian Moore Î 12 5 - - - 1

Richard Foreman Î 12 7 2 2 1 1

Gary Peart**** 5 - 2 - - -

Christopher Berry**** 5 - - 1 - -

Ansel Howell**** Î 5 2 - - - -

Peter McConnell**** Î 3 2 - - - -

* Mr Paul Hoo resigned on November 4, 2017.

** Mr Peter Chin resigned on November 7, 2017.

** Mr. James Morrison resigned on October 23, 2017. 

*** Messrs Georgios Sampson and Nikolaos Nikolakopoulos 
resigned on October 17, 2017.

**** The following persons were appointed during the year on 
the dates indicated:

• Mrs. Ann-Dawn Young Sang in her capacity as President & 
CEO on October 1, 2017 

• Mr. Christopher Berry on October 23, 2017 

• Mr. Gary Peart on October 23, 2017

• Mr. Ansel Howell on October 23, 2017

• Mr. W. David McConnell on November 7, 2017

• Mr. Peter McConnell on November 7, 2017 

Î Denotes Independent Directors
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Directors’
Report
The Directors present their Annual 
Report with the Group Statement of 
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income of Supreme Ventures Limited 
and its subsidiaries for the year ended 
31st December 2017, together with the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position.

Report
31st December 2017

Operating Results $’000

Gross Profit 5,628,522

Profit before taxation 1,844,667
Taxation (   647,713)
Profit for the year 1,196,954
Other comprehensive income (       3,480)
Profit for the year   1,193,474

Earnings per stock 45.39 cents

Dividends

The Directors recommend that:

• Interim dividends paid of fourteen (14) 
cents on 31st May 2017, sixteen (16) cents 
on 8th September 2017, fourteen (14) 
cents on 4th December 2017, and twelve 
(12) cents on 23rd March 2018, totalling 
fifty-six (56) cents; and

• Special dividends paid out of retained 
earnings of eighteen (18) cents paid on 
4th December 2017 and eight (8) cents 
on 23rd March 2018, totalling twenty-six 
(26) cents;

• Be and are hereby declared as final 
and that no further dividend be paid in 
respect of the year under review.

Directors

The members of the Board of Directors as at 
31st December 2017 were as follows:

Mr. W. David McConnell *** - Chairman
Mr. Ian Levy - Deputy Chairman
Mrs. Ann-Dawn Young Sang - President/CEO

Mr. John Graham
Mr. Steven Hudson
Mr. Richard Foreman
Mr. Brent Sankar
Mr. Ian Moore
Mr. Ansel Howell **
Mr. Gary Peart **
Mr. Christopher Berry**
Mr. Peter McConnell ***

Pursuant to Articles 105 and 106 of the 
Articles of Incorporation, one-third of the 
Directors (or the number nearest to one-
third) will retire at the Annual General 
Meeting.
* The Board of Directors on 1st October 2017 appointed 

Director, Mrs Ann-Dawn Young Sang, to the Board of 
Directors in her capacity as President & CEO. 

** The Board of Directors on 23rd October 2017 appointed 
Directors Gary Peart, Christopher Berry & Ansel Howel to 
the Board of Directors to fill vacancies as a result of the 
resignations of Messrs. James Morrison, Georgios Sampson 
and Nikolaos Nikolakopoulos.

*** The Board of Directors on 7th November 2017 appointed 
Directors W. David McConnell and Peter McConnell to 
the Board of Directors to fill vacancies as a result of the 
resignation of Messrs. Paul Hoo and Peter Chin.

External Auditors

In keeping with Corporate Governance best 
practices and standards, a routine tender for 
audit services to allow for natural rotation of 
our Auditors was conducted. Consequently, a 
proposal is being made for the change of the 
External Auditors.

Special Notice has been given to the 
Company pursuant to sections 130(4), 
and 154(5) of the Companies Act of 
Jamaica, of the intention to propose as 
an ordinary resolution the appointment 
of PricewaterhouseCoopers, Chartered 
Accountants as Auditors of the Company 
in place of the retiring Auditors, KPMG, 
Chartered Accountants. 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Lorna Gooden
COMPANY SECRETARY
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Audit
Committee
Report

Role

The formal role of the Audit Committee 
is set out in its terms of reference, 
which are available at http://www.
supremeventures.com. Key elements 
of the role of the Committee and work 
carried out during the year are set out 
as follows.

Composition & Frequency of Meetings

The requirement is for the Committee 
to meet at least four (4) times per 
year. However, seven (7) meetings were 
held during the year with one hundred 
percent (100%) attendance of members. 
This was more than the number of 
meetings held in the previous year.
The frequency of meetings was due 
to the fact that the Committee held 
separate meetings, at which it discussed 
internal control and risk management 
matters. The Committee also met 
privately with the External Auditors, 
outside of the presence of Management.

The Committee is made up of majority 
Independent members. Overall the 
Committee showed dedication in 
serving.

Following are the current members of 
the Committee:

• Ansel Howell (Chair; Independent)
• Peter McConnell (Independent)
• Richard Foreman (Independent)
• Ian Levy

Previous members, who tendered their 
resignations as Directors during the 
year, were:
• Peter Chin (Chair; Independent)
• Barrington Chisholm (Independent)
• Georgios Sampson

The Committee reports to the Board 
quarterly or as necessary.

Items reviewed during the year included: 

Financial Reporting 

The Committee reviewed the draft 
Annual and Interim Management 
Reports before recommending 
their publication to the Board. The 
Committee discussed with the Chief 
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer 
and External Auditor, the significant 
accounting policies, estimates and  
judgements applied in preparing 
these reports. The Committee also 
reviewed the draft Interim Management 
statements. 

Internal Control and Risk Management 

The Committee reviewed the risk 
management process and discussed 
the inherent risks faced by the business. 
Risk management activities take 
place throughout the organization to 
support the Committee in its corporate 
governance responsibilities, working 
with the business to proactively and 
effectively manage risk. This, together 
with the related controls and assurance 
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processes, is designed to identify, 
evaluate and manage risk and to ensure 
that the resultant residual risks meet 
the risk appetite of the Board. The 
principal risks and uncertainties are 
outlined in the relevant section. The 
Committee discussed with Management 
how they would continue to deliver high-
quality oversight and risk evaluation 
against the background of the current 
economic climate.

The Committee has an ongoing process 
for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
system of internal controls and of the 
Internal Audit function. During 2017, it 
reviewed and approved the risk-based 
Audit plan and ensured that there were 
sufficient resources to fulfil the agreed 
plan. It considered reports from the 
Internal Control team summarizing the 
Audit findings and recommendations 
and describing actions taken by 
Management to address any shortfalls. 
It reviewed the level and nature of 
outstanding audit weaknesses and 
invited Management to the Committee, 
to further understand progress, when it 
was necessary. It also reviewed how the 
Audit function was performing against 
the relevant standards published by the 
Institute of Internal Auditors.

The Committee also evaluated the 
performance of the Company’s Internal 
Auditors and was satisfied with their 
performance. It was also satisfied with 
the report from the Internal Auditors 
which acknowledged the general 
responsiveness of Management to 
queries and recommendations.

Audit 

For the 2017 reporting period the 
Committee reviewed the Annual Audited 
and Quarterly Unaudited Reports and 
the Interim Management Statements, 
approving the Quarterly Statements and 
recommending the Annual Statements 
for adoption by the Board and public 
release. 

The Committee reviewed the plan for 
External Audit  and the findings of the 
External Auditor from its review of the 
interim announcement and its audit of 
the Annual Financial statements. The 
Committee also reviewed the scope 
and costs of the External Audit. The 
Committee has a clear policy regarding 
non-audit services that may be provided 
by the External Auditor, which prohibits 
certain categories of work and controls 
the overall level of expenditure. Pre-
authorisation is required for all non-
audit work.

Auditor Independence

The Committee reviews the work 
undertaken by the External Auditor and 
each year assesses its independence, 
objectivity and performance. In 
doing so, it takes into account 
relevant professional and regulatory 
requirements and the relationship with 
the Auditor as a whole, including the 
provision of any non-audit services. 
The Committee monitors the Auditor’s 
compliance with relevant regulatory, 
ethical and professional guidance on the 
rotation of partners, as well as assessing 
annually its qualifications, expertise, 
resources and the effectiveness of the 
Audit process, including a report from 
the External Auditor on its own internal 
quality procedures. As part of our 
review exercise we also routinely tender 
for audit services to allow for natural 
rotation of our Auditors. In this regard 
I advise that the Directors propose the 
appointment of PwC as our External 
Auditors for 2018. I would like to thank 
KPMG for their services over the past 
five years and look forward to working 
with them as our Internal Audit service 
provider.

Ansel Howell
Chairman
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Role

The formal role of the Compensation 
Committee is set out in its terms of 
reference, which are available at http://www.
supremeventures.com.  

The Compensation Committee’s mandate is 
to assist the Board of Directors in approving 
and monitoring guidelines and practices with 
respect to the compensation and benefits of 
officers, as well as administering the Group’s 
compensation plan.  Its members are required 
to have a broad understanding of the role of 
compensation in attracting, motivating and 
retaining Senior Executives in particular and 
all employees in general.  The Committee 
assists the Board in the following:

• Determining appropriate compensation 
for the Executives;

• Evaluating officer compensation plans, 
policies and programmes; and

• Overseeing, administering and reviewing 
compensation, equity and benefit 
plans and programmes for officers and 
employees.

In addition to the powers and responsibilities 
expressly delegated to the Committee, it can 
exercise any other powers and carry out any 
other responsibilities delegated to it by the 
Board from time to time, consistent with the 
Company’s Articles of Incorporation and other 
legislation and regulations. 

The Committee will assist the Board in 
fulfilling its fiduciary responsibilities relating 
to:
• The fair and competitive compensation of 

the Non-Executive Directors; 
• The compensation, bonuses, incentives 

and other Compensation issues of the 
Chief Executive Officer, other Executives 
and other key employees of the Company, 
and; 

• The administration of the general 
employee welfare plans of staff.

The Board Compensation Committee is not a 
policy making body, but assists the Board by 
advising the Board on compensation matters 
from time to time.

The Compensation Committee is authorized 
to obtain outside legal or independent 
professional advice and secure the attendance 
of outsiders with relevant experience and 
expertise if it considers this necessary.

Composition & Frequency of Meetings

The Compensation Committee is made up 
exclusively of Non-Executive Directors and 
at 31st December 2017 was chaired by Mr. 
Christopher Berry. Other members of the 
Committee are:
• Mr. John Graham (Alternate Lance 

Hylton)
• Mr. Richard Foreman

Previous members included Mr. Steven 
Hudson, and the following persons who 
tendered their resignations as Directors 
during the year:
• Mr. Nikolaos Nikolakopoulos
• Mr. Barrington Chisholm 

The requirement is for the Committee to 
meet at least once per year. However, eight 
(8) meetings were held during the year with 
one hundred percent (100%) attendance of 
members. This was an increase in the number 
of meetings, from one (1) in the previous year.

Total Directors’ Emoluments Paid

The total Directors’ fees and other 
emoluments paid was $248.440 Million in 
2017 and $252.193 Million in 2016, representing 
a decrease of $3.753 Million. 

Christopher Berry
Chairman

Compensation 
Committee 
Report
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David McConnell 
Chairman
W. David McConnell is 
Co- Managing Director and 
Co-Founder of Select Brands 
Limited, a leading Wines 
and Spirits Company in 
Jamaica. He also sits on the 
Boards of Scotia Investments 
Jamaica Limited and IronRock 
Insurance Company Limited, 
amongst others.

Ian Levy
Deputy Chairman
Ian Levy is an accomplished 
businessman and an original 
member of Supreme Ventures' 
Board of Directors. He is also 
the Chairman and Managing 
Director of Ian K. (Agencies) 
Ltd.

Ann-Dawn Young Sang
President and CEO
Ann-Dawn Young Sang is 
SVL's first female CEO, taking 
office in October, 2017. Before 
joining SVL, she was the 
Regional Vice President for the 
Caribbean for International 
Game Technology - IGT, 
the world's largest lottery 
operator and technology 
partner for SVL since its 
inception in 2001.
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Brent Sankar
Director
Trinidadian Brent Sankar is 
a Non-Executive Director. He 
has over 27 years’ experience 
in the Financial, Accounting 
and Auditing industries.  
He is a Partner/Director 
of Onesta Consulting, a 
Trinidadian entity which 
offers consultancy services 
on matters of management, 
taxation, accounting and other 
corporate matters.

Peter McConnell
Director
Peter McConnell is the 
Managing Director of Trade 
Winds Citrus Ltd., and the 
Chairman of Linstead Public 
Hospital and the Jamaica 
Citrus Protection Agency. In 
April 2014, he was appointed 
Non- Executive Director of 
Access Financial Services Ltd, 
in addition to his Directorships 
of Worthy Park Estates 
Ltd. and Agro Investment 
Corporation.

Richard Foreman
Director
Richard Foreman is currently 
the Chief Operating Officer of 
Mothers Enterprises Limited. 
He has had more than 35 
years of experience in the 
Jamaican economy. He has 
had solid success in the areas 
of Information Technology, 
Business Accounting and 
Leadership.
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Ansel Howell 
Director
Mr. Ansel Howell is the 
Principal Consultant at ADH 
Consultants with particular 
experience in Organizational 
Effectiveness and Change 
Management. He is Chairman 
of the Trinidad & Tobago 
Mortgage Finance Co. Ltd, 
and Chairman of the Home 
Mortgage Bank. He has also 
previously served as Director 
of Clint Experience Initiatives 
at RBC, where he also held 
several leadership roles.

Ian Moore
Director
Ian Moore is the Chairman 
of Adjoined Business 
Solutions and has over 
25 years of consulting 
experience, specializing in 
Telecommunications and 
Information Technology 
strategy and Project 
Leadership. He is an 
Independent Non-Executive 
Director.

Steven Hudson
Director
Steven Hudson brings to 
the Board over 18 years of 
experience in the Hospitality 
industry, having worked with 
the Sandals Group both 
locally and internationally. 
He is presently the Managing 
Director of Bearings & Seals 
Limited, one of Jamaica's 
major distributors of 
automotive and industrial 
parts. Mr. Hudson is a Non-
Executive Director.
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John Graham
Director
John Graham is an 
accomplished Attorney-
at-Law, bringing his 
knowledge and experience 
in Civil Litigation, 
Advocacy, Commercial 
Law and Conveyancing to 
the Board. He is a Non-
Executive Director.

Lance Hylton
Director
Lance Hylton has been 
practicing law since 1987 
and has had a multi-faceted, 
multi-jurisdictional career. 
He has been continuously 
ranked by the leading 
independent rating agency 
Chambers & Partners Global, 
as being among the leading 
Commercial lawyers (Band 1) 
in Jamaica since 2008.

Gary H. Peart
Director
Gary H. Peart has been 
the Chief Executive 
Officer of Mayberry 
Investments Limited since 
May 2005. He has over 
20 years of corporate 
financial experience in 
the Jamaican Financial 
Industry. Mr. Peart 
currently serves as the 
Deputy Chairman on the 
Board of the Jamaica 
Stock Exchange.

Christopher Berry
Director
Christopher Berry has 
been the Executive 
Chairman of Mayberry 
Investments Limited 
since 1993 and has over 
30 years’ experience in 
the securities industry. 
He sits on several Boards 
including Apex Health 
Care Associates Limited, 
Apex Pharmacy Limited, 
Lasco Financial Services 
Limited, Caribbean 
Producers (Jamaica) 
Limited and IronRock 
Insurance Company 
Limited. 
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CORPORATE data

CORPORATE 
OFFICES

Supreme Ventures Limited
4th Floor, R. Danny Williams 
Bldg.
28-48 Barbados Avenue
Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.
Tel: (876) 754-6526
Fax: (876) 754-2143

Supreme Ventures Limited
Retirement Road Office
9A Retirement Crescent
Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.
Tel: (876) 906-8603
Tel: (876) 920-9421
Fax: (876) 960-4397

REGISTERED OFFICES OF 
SUBSIDIARIES

Supreme Ventures Lotteries 
Ltd
Supreme Ventures Limited
4th Floor, R. Danny Williams 
Bldg.
28-48 Barbados Avenue
Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.
Tel: (876) 754-6526
Fax: (876) 754-2143

Supreme Ventures Financial 
Services Ltd
4th Floor, R. Danny Williams 
Bldg.
28-48 Barbados Avenue
Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.
Tel: (876) 754-6526
Fax: (876) 754-2143

Prime Sports (Jamaica) 
Limited
4th Floor, R. Danny Williams 
Bldg.
28-48 Barbados Avenue
Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.
Tel: (876) 754-6526
Fax: (876) 754-2143
    
Bingo Investments Limited
4th Floor, R. Danny Williams 
Bldg.
28-48 Barbados Avenue
Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.
Tel: (876) 754-6526
Fax: (876) 754-2143

Big ‘A’ Track 2003 Limited
4th Floor, R. Danny Williams 
Bldg.
28-48 Barbados Avenue
Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.
Tel: (876) 754-6526
Fax: (876) 754-2143

Jamaica Lottery Company 
Holdings Ltd. 
9A Retirement Crescent
Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.
Tel: (876) 920-9421
Fax: (876) 960-4397

Supreme Ventures Racing and 
Entertainment Ltd. 
4th Floor, R. Danny Williams 
Bldg.
28-48 Barbados Avenue
Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.
Tel: (876) 754-6526
Fax: (876) 754-2143
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REGIONAL
OFFICES

New Kingston
4th Floor, R. Danny Williams 
Bldg.
28-48 Barbados Avenue
Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.
Tel: (876) 754-6526

Half Way Tree Road 
State Mall
15 Half Way Tree Road
Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.
Tel: (876) 920-3500
Fax: (876) 960-9417

Ocho Rios 
Shop # GF 5
Island Shopping Centre
Main Street, Ocho Rios
St. Ann, Jamaica, W.I.
Tel: (876) 630-7985

Acropolis Barbican
Barbican Centre
29 East Kings House Road 
Kingston 5
Jamaica, W.I.
Tel: (876) 978-1299
Fax: (876) 946-9896

Spanish Town
37 Young Street
Spanish Town 
St. Catherine, 
Jamaica, W.I. 
Tel: (876) 749-3690

Savanna-la-Mar
Lyons Plaza 
74 Great George Street
Savanna-la-Mar,
Westmoreland,
Jamaica, W.I.
Tel: (876) 918-0232
Fax: (876) 918-0233

Portmore
Shop #6, McMaster centre
Portmore Town Centre, 
Portmore, St. Catherine, 
Jamaica, W.I.
Tel: (876) 622-1426

Montego Bay
Shop #40
City Centre Mall
25 St. James Street
St. James, Jamaica, W.I.
Tel: (876) 622-7783

BANKERS ATTORNEYS AUDITORS
Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica 
Limited
2 Knutsford Boulevard
Kingston 5
Jamaica, W.I.

National Commercial Bank 
Jamaica Limited
Private Banking
32 Trafalgar Road
Kingston 10
Jamaica, W.I.

CIBC First Caribbean 
International Bank
23 Knutsford Boulevard
Kingston 5
Jamaica, W.I.

John G. Graham & 
Company
7 Belmont Road
Kingston 5
Jamaica, W.I. 

Rattray Patterson Rattray
24- 26 Grenada Crescent 
Kingston 5
Jamaica, W.I. 

Hart Muirhead Fatta
2nd Floor, Victoria Mutual 
Bldg.
53 Knutsford Boulevard
Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I. 

Livingston Alexander & 
Levy
72 Harbour Street
Kingston 
Jamaica, W.I. 

External Auditors

KPMG
6 Duke Street
Kingston
Jamaica, W.I.

Internal Auditors

PriceWaterhouseCoopers
Scotia Centre
Cnr. Duke & Port Royal 
Streets
Kingston
Jamaica, W.I.
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Brando Hayden 
COO, Supreme Ventures Racing 
and Entertainment  Limited

Carolyn Bolt Nicholas 
Assistant Vice President, 
Human Resources & 
Administration

Andre Marks 
Group Manager, 
Enterprise Systems

Andrew Bromley 
VP, Group Security & 
Surveillance

Ann-Dawn Young Sang 
President and CEO

Dennis Chung 
Chief Financial Officer
(Appointed February 
2018)

Wayne Boodasingh 
Vice President, Facilities 
& Maintenance
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Krista-Gaye Fisher 
Assistant Corporate 
Secretary; Legal Officer

Lorna Gooden 
Corporate Secretary

Tashia Hutton 
Vice President, Customer 
Support & Regulatory 
Compliance

Adam Harris 
Assistant Vice 
President, Projects & 
Innovation

Simone Clarke-Cooper 
Assistant Vice President, 
Group Corporate 
Communication

Lancelot Thomas 
Vice President, Finance
(Demitted office March 2018

Nickesha Eulette 
Group Financial 
Controller
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TOP 10 SHAREHOLDINGS 
 As At December 31, 2017

Name Joint Holder/Connected Interests  Volume Percentage

Zodiac Caribbean Ventures Limited Brent Sankar 996,879,172 37.800

Ian Kent Levy    320,541,171 12.154

 Matthew  Levy 4,000,000 0.152

    324,541,171 12.306

Mayberry West Indies Limited Christopher Berry;  Gary Peart 314,744,917 11.935

Janette Stewart  105,005,043 3.982

  65,000,000 2.465

 Steven Hudson 587,433 0.022

  170,592,476 6.469

Stephen Castagne  94,052,136 3.566

Sagicor Pooled Equity Fund  48,313,478 1.832

JCSD Trustee Services Ltd - Sigma Optima  41,131,132 1.560

PWL Bamboo Holdings Group Limited Christopher Berry 31,582,898 1.198

Konrad Berry Christopher Berry 27,582,898 1.046

St. Elizabeth International Limited William David McConnell 27,368,789 1.038

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS 
 As At December 31, 2017

Director Name Primary Holder
Joint Holders /Connected 
Interests  Volume Percentage

W. David McConnell St. Elizabeth International Ltd Director/Shareholder 27,368,789 1.0378 

Ian Kent Levy Ian Kent Levy  320,541,171 12.1543 

 Ian Kent Levy Matthew Kent Levy 4,000,000 0.1517 

   324,541,171 12.3060 

Steven A. Hudson Janette Stewart Steven A. Hudson 587,433 0.0223 

 Janette Stewart Connected 105,000,000 3.9814 

 Janette Stewart Connected 65,000,000 2.4647 

   170,587,433 6.4684 

Peter McConnell Peter McConnell Stephanie McConnell 6,771,842 0.2568 

 United Estates Ltd Pension Fund Connected 545,000 0.0207 

 
Trade Winds Citrus Ltd, Pension 
Fund Connected 545,000 0.0207 

 Wakefield Farms Ltd. Connected     2,000,000 0.0758 

       9,861,842 0.3739 

John George Graham John George Graham Tracey E. Goldson -   -   

Richard Foreman Kelsey Investment Services Ltd Connected 1,000 0.0000 

Brent Sankar Zodiac Caribbean Ventures Ltd Officer 996,879,172 37.7999 
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DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS  (Cont’d) 
 As At December 31, 2017

Director Name Primary Holder
Joint Holders /Connected 
Interests  Volume Percentage

Christopher Berry Mayberry West Indies Ltd Director 314,744,917 11.9346 

 PWL Bamboo Group Holdings Ltd Director 31,582,898 1.1976 

 Apex Pharmacy Shareholder 4,970,000 0.1885 

 Apex Health Care Shareholder -   -   

 Konrad Ltd Connected 2,000,000 0.0758 

 Broadleaf Properties Connected -   -   

 Konrad Berry Connected 27,582,898 1.0459 

 A+ Plus Medical Centre Ltd Shareholder 400,000 0.0152 

 Mayberry Investments Ltd Director -   -   

 Lasco Financial Director -   -   

 Caribbean Producers Jamaica Director -   -   

 Ho Choi Ltd Shareholder 13,000,000 0.4929 

 Patricia Yap Connected -   -   

 William Berry Connected -   -   

 Lauren Berry Connected -   -   

   394,280,713 14.9504 

Gary Peart VDWSD Ltd Shareholder 24,845,160 0.9421 

 Mayberry West Indies Ltd Connected -   -   

 Ironrock Insurance Company Ltd Director / Shareholder 1,274,609 0.0483 

 Lasco Financial Services Ltd Director / Shareholder -   -   

 Lasco Distributors Ltd Director / Shareholder -   -   

 Mayberry Managed Emp. Portfolio Connected -   -   

   26,119,769 0.9904 

Ian Moore Ian Moore  -   -   

Ansel Howell Ansel Howell  -   -   

Ann-Dawn Young Sang Ann-Dawn Young Sang  -   -   

Lance Hylton 
(Alternate) Lance Hylton  -   -   
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S SHAREHOLDINGS 
 As At December 31, 2017

Names
Joint Holders/Connected 
Interest  Shareholdings  Percentage 

Ann-Dawn Young Sang  -   -   

Lancelot Thomas  -   -   

Wayne Boodasingh  -   -   

Lorna Gooden
Gregory Paul Anthony 
Gooden 8,300 0.0003 

  8,300 0.0003 

  16,600 0.0006 

Andrew Bromley  4,000 0.0002 

Adam Harris  -   -   

Krista-Gaye Fisher  -   -   

Tashia Hutton  -   -   

Andre Marks  2,200 0.0001 

 Opel Marks 8,000 0.0003 

  10,200 0.0004 

Simone Clarke-Cooper  -   -   

Jason Hall  -   -   

Brando Hayden  -   -   

Carolyn Bolt-Nicholas  -   -   

TRADES IN EXCESS OF 5 MILLION
 As At December 31, 2017

Name Of Seller Name Of Buyer Date Sold Unit Price Units Value  J$

Stephen Castagne JCSD Trustee Services Ltd - 
Sigma Optima 15-Dec-17   10.00 25,000,000 250,000,000 

Stephen Castagne Sagicor Pooled Equity Fund 15-Dec-17 10.00 24,887,872 248,878,720

Mayberry West Indies Ltd Guardian Life Limited - Surplus 
Fund 21-Dec-17 9.36 13,000,000 121,680,000 

Mayberry West Indies Ltd Guardian Life Limited - Pooled 
Pension Fund 21-Dec-17 9.36 10,000,000 93,600,000 

Paul Anthony Hoo Mayberry West Indies Limited 21-Dec-17 9.35 129,364,000 1,209,553,400 

    202,251,872 1,923,712,120 
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MANAGEMENT 
TEAM

Marshalee Mills Manager, Gaming Operations, Acropolis

Christel Derizzio Senior Manager, Gaming Operations, Acropolis

Craig Chong Senior Operations Manager, Acropolis

Gordon Creary Technical Support Manager, Acropolis

Mary-Ann Meggs Customer Relations & Field Services Manager, Compliance & 
Customer Support

Stephanie Eubanks Compliance Manager, Compliance & Customer Support

Sisco Wedderburn Customer Support Manager, Compliance & Customer 
Support

Mark Archer Technical Support Manager (Field Services), Compliance & 
Customer Support

Diahann Guy-Shepherd Planning & Activations Manager, Group Corporate 
Communication

Anthony Jackson Draw Manager, Draw Operations

Sanique Vacciana Assistant Draw Manager, Draw Operations

Deon Dewar-Gray Finance Manager, Treasury

Wayne Matthews Finance Manager, Financial Systems and Procurement

Alrick Shepherd Finance Manager, Financial Reporting

Robert Ebanks Finance Manager, Revenue & Collections

Triana Reynolds Finance Manager, Procurement & Risk

Mark Findley Payroll Manager, Human Resources & Administration

Tally-Ann Morrison HR Manager, Human Resources & Administration

Danielle Douglas Brand Manager – JustBet

Kathryn Clark Marketing Manager, SVREL

Garfield Walker Retail Manager

Orville Thompson Security & Surveillance Manager
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SIGNED AND
SEALED:

After an 18 month negotiation period, 
Supreme Ventures Limited inked the deal 
on the Caymanas divestment on Friday, 
February 10, 2017. The company submitted 
its bid in September 2015, with the 
government giving SVL the preferred bidder 
nod in March of 2016. Supreme Ventures’ 
tenure as the new operators of the entity 
began on March 7, under the name Supreme 
Ventures Racing and Entertainment Limited, 
(SVREL). 

Then Finance Minister, Hon. Audley Shaw, 
called the divestment a ‘historic event’, and 
lauded the work of the negotiating team.

In her remarks, then State Minister in the 
Finance Ministry, Hon Fayval Williams, 
spoke to the importance of Horse Racing 
in Jamaica. She highlighted the potential 
for employment and investment, as well 
as significant Revenue earning that SVREL 
could generate. 

Chairman of Caymanas Track Limited, 
Danville Walker opined that he couldn’t think 
of a better entity to which the track could be 
divested. He added that while the revenue 
generating aspect of SVREL’s operations 
are critical, “the growth and development 
of racing is equally important. I am looking 
forward to seeing what the private sector 
brings to that growth and development of 
the Jamaican racing sector.”

CAYMANAS DIVESTED TO 

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED
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In the last quarter of its opening year, 
Businessman, Michael Bernard was appointed 
as Chairman of SVREL by new Supreme 
Ventures Chairman, David McConnell, effective 
December 8.

Mr Bernard has more than 25 years of 
executive management experience and is a 
retired Managing Director of Carreras Limited. 
During his tenure as the Chief Executive at 
Carreras, he successfully led the company to 
deliver commendable and continuous growth in 
shareholder returns, which earned the company 
awards for being the best performing company 
listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange, 
including “Best Performing Company for 2010”.

“Michael is a brilliant business mind and has a 
track record of outstanding success. We are 
confident that we can harness his knowledge 
and experience to build Caymanas Park and 
the SVREL business. We have already started 
to make progress, and we know his leadership 
will significantly enhance that process as 
it continues,’’ said SVL Chairman, David 
McConnell.

Infrastructural and other work has begun 
at Caymanas, with other gains being made, 
particularly in the area of purses, which have 
been increased and are now being paid on time. 
In 2017, SVREL also saw the most successful 
Superstakes and Diamond Mile Race Days in 
the history of Horse Racing in Jamaica.

MICHAEL
BERNARD 
APPOINTED
SVREL
CHAIRMAN
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SVREL DONATES 
MILLIONS TO SCHOOLS 
IN PORTMORE

Supreme Ventures Racing and 
Entertainment Limited (SVREL), the 
Horse Racing subsidiary of Supreme 
Ventures Limited, demonstrated their 
spirit of altruism in September of 2017, 
with a hefty donation of $2 million to 
improve the conditions of several schools 
in Portmore, St. Catherine.

Senior Marketing Officer at SVREL, 
Kathryn Clark said the Company 
acknowledged the huge role the 
community plays in the success of 
Caymanas Track and wanted to 
execute an outreach initiative that 
would resonate with the municipality of 
Portmore.

“The community is a vital part of the 
track and has played an integral role 
in us having a smooth transition as 
the new operators of Caymanas Park. 
This initiative is aimed at showing our 
appreciation to the municipality of 
Portmore as well as to make a positive 
impact on the lives of the thousands of 
students,” she said.

A total of 25 government-funded Basic 
and Primary schools in Portmore were 
chosen to receive funds for improvements 
to the school compound and meet basic 
needs. 

Among the schools that received 
assistance were Greater Portmore Basic 
School, Kensington Basic School, Naggo 
Head Primary and Waterford Primary. 

Chief Operating Officer at 
Supreme Ventures Racing and 
Entertainment Limited (SVREL), 
Brando Hayden (centre) and 
Assistant Vice President, Human 
Resources and Administration, 
Carolyn Bolt Nicholas (right) 
present a symbolic cheque 
for $500,000 to Principal at 
Independence City Primary 
School, Merlene Sinclair (left). 
Independence City Primary is 
among the five schools which 
received assistance under SVREL’s 
$2 million back-to-school initiative. 
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SUPREME VENTURES 
LIMITED CHANGES 
LIVES IN 2017

AVP, Group Corporate 
Communications, Simone Clarke-
Cooper and SVL staff rejoice 
with  Food for the Poor house 
beneficiary, Beverly Foote who 
received the keys to her brand new 
two bedroom house for the first 
time in Irish Pen, Spanish Town, 
St. Catherine on Thursday, July 
20. SVL contributed $3 million 
to the charity’s home building 5K 
Run/Walk initiative, which helped 
to build seven houses overall for 
families in 2017.

Seven families across the island had a place to 
call ‘home’ as result of a donation by Supreme 
Ventures Limited in May 2017 to the Food 
For the Poor (FFP) 5K Walk/Run event. The 
annual 5K is the main local fundraising vehicle 
for FFP’s housing initiative.  

In addition to the first house, which SVL Team 
members helped to build for Ms. Beverly 
Foote, in Irish Pen, St Catherine in July of 
last year, homes were also built throughout 
the year for Mr. Calvin Walters in Pennant, 
Clarendon, Tameka Lawson in Trinityville, 
St. Thomas; Marcia Ormsby in Bartons, St. 
Catherine; Debbie-Ann Whyte in Spanish 
Town, St. Catherine; Cordella Edwards in 
Guys Hill, St. Mary and Conroy Stanley in Race 
Course, Clarendon. 

Ms. Foote, who was formerly incarcerated at 
the Fort Augusta Adult Correctional Centre, 
applied for the house while she was still 
behind bars. She said that even though she 
was serving time, she was still responsible for 
her eight children who lived in a dilapidated 
structure.

60-year-old retired construction worker Calvin 
Walters says his FFP house came after a five 
year wait in a crumbling board structure.

“I refused to apply for the house for a long 
while, but I realized I couldn’t do it on my 
own so I applied. It took five years and I 
almost gave up when I saw two persons in 
my neighbourhood apply after me and get 
through before me, but I exercised patience 
and God has been good,” he said. 

“Our hearts were really filled with joy when 
we handed over the keys to Miss Bev (Foote). 
We were just so moved to see what it meant 
to her and her family. To know that six other 
families were blessed in the same way is a 
blessing to us as well,” said Assistant Vice 
President, Group Corporate Communications, 
Simone Clarke-Cooper.

She added that the company realizes its role 
as a good corporate citizen, and would be 
continuing and strengthening its focus on its 
corporate social responsibility efforts in 2018.
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#SimplyVestedInLove 
Sends Over 100 
Children
Back to School 

SVL AVP, Group Corporate Communication, Simone Clarke-Cooper (centre) poses with the first set of beneficiaries under #SimplyVestedInLove. 
Under #SimplyVestedInLove, SVL Facebook fans were invited to nominate persons who needed back-to-school assistance.
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Through its major project, 
#SimplyVestedInLove, launched in 
September 2017, Supreme Ventures 
Limited assisted over 100 children with 
preparing for the new school term. 

The effort, which celebrated life changing 
acts of kindness by ordinary Jamaicans, 
disbursed $1 million in assistance to 37 
parents and guardians who were finding 
it difficult to send their children back to 
the classroom in September. Most of the 
parents described the difficulties in their 
day-to-day lives which included caring for 
children with autism and special needs as 
well as unemployment and displacement. 

#SimplyVestedInLove’s back to school 
project existed exclusively through social 
media - on SVL’s corporate Facebook 
page, and encouraged SVL fans to share 
the story of a neighbor or friend who 
needed help sending their child back to 
school in September. Beneficiaries with 
the most impactful stories received gift 
certificates for textbooks, stationery, 
uniforms and other school items based 
on the need described in each specific 
case.

SVL AVP, Group Corporate Communication, Simone Clarke-Cooper (right) and #SimplyVestedInLove beneficiary, Simone Barrett, share a laugh 
with her two young sons at the second presentation for SVL’s #SimplyVestedInLove at the Company’s Corporate Office in New Kingston on 
August 25. Under #SimplyVestedInLove, SVL Facebook fans were invited to nominate persons who needed back-to-school assistance, which the 
company then provided.
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THEY HIT THE 
JACKPOT!

2017 saw two Super 
Lotto and four Lotto 
Jackpot winners. 
Supreme Ventures’ $300 million Super 
Lotto jackpot was won on June 16 and 
had to be split between two players, 
retiree W. Gordon from Trelawny, 
Jamaica and Mr. K. Brooks from 
Limestone Bay, the Valley, Anguilla. This 
was the first time that an Anguillan had 
won the multijurisdictional Super Lotto. 

Mr. Gordon won a share of $117M 
with a Quick Pick ticket valued at 
$200.  Meanwhile, Mr. Brooks won the 
remaining $193M on a full priced ticket. 

Supreme Ventures Limited (SVL) started 
selling Super Lotto tickets on August 25, 
2009, which sees gamers from Jamaica, 
Barbados, St. Kitts and Nevis, Anguilla, 
Antigua, St. Maarten, Paraguay and the 
US Virgin Islands vying for a shot at the 
largest jackpot in the Caribbean.   

The presentation ceremonies were held 
in both Jamaica and Anguilla.

The four Lotto winners were W. Cargill, 
L. McIntosh, B. Whyte and S. O'Meally.

W. Cargill hit it big when he won the 
Lotto draw for $151 million on Saturday, 
May 6.

He purchased his winning ticket at the 
Supreme Ventures-owned Acropolis 
Gaming Lounge located on East Kings 
House Road.   

Next in line for millionaire status was 
75-year-old L. McIntosh, who won $57 
million on Wednesday, July 5.

Mr. McIntosh, a taxi driver who hails 
from Kingston, kept repurchasing 
numbers from a previous Quick Pick 
ticket until one of the five lines he 
purchased hit it big on the night of 
Wednesday, July 5. 

Mr B Whyte was the next to hit the 
Jackpot on October 21. The veteran of 
the Jamaica Constabulary Force says he 
was happy with his $85M win.

 Just in time for Christmas, S. O’Meally 
won $49M on Wednesday, December 6.
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1. SVL Corporate Communication Officer, 
Stephanie Todd (left) shakes hands with 
Billy Heaven CEO of the CHASE Fund after 
the opening of a cancer treatment facility 
at the Cornwall Hospital in St. James. SVL 
is the main contributor to the CHASE Fund, 
contributing some $1.4billion in 2017.   

2. Happy participants in the Supreme 
Ventures Junior Creators Robotics Camp 
with camp facilitator Marvin Hall of 
Halls of Learning (far left), Hon. Floyd 
Green, Minister of State in the Ministry of 
Education, Youth and Information, Simone 
Clarke-Cooper, AVP, Group Corporate 
Communication and Lancelot Thomas, VP, 
Finance.

3. Students from the Supreme Ventures Junior 
Creators Robotics Camp and facilitators 
from ‘Halls of Learning’ gather for a group 
shot at the end of the five day camp. About 
120 students from Primary Schools in 
underserved communities were invited to 
the camp, where they were introduced to 
robotics and other science and technology 
subjects.  

4. SVL Draw talent, Peta-Gaye Sutherland, 
feeds a child from Walker’s Place of Safety, 
during the annual Christmas treat at the 
Candy Craze Candy Bar and Creamery. 
SVL invited 30 wards of the state for an ice 
cream treat.

5. Senior Marketing Manager at SVREL, 
Kathryn Clark, hands a back-to-school gift 
to a student at Cedar Grove Basic School 
during the Horse Racing company’s visit to 
the school on Monday, September 4. SVREL 
donated $250,000 to the school as part 
of efforts to contribute to schools in the 
Portmore area where Caymanas Track is 
located.

6. Intensive care nurse, Davia Tucker gives 
Supreme Ventures AVP, Group Corporate 
Communication, Simone Clarke-Cooper 
a ‘bear hug’ after receiving a $100,000 
token of appreciation from SVL for her 
role in saving four infant patients, when 
fire broke out in the Intensive Care Unit at 
the Bustamante Hospital for Children in 
January.

7. Supreme Ventures staff work on a house 
for Food for the Poor housing beneficiary, 
Beverly Foote and her family. The house was 
built by Supreme Ventures in partnership 
with Food for the Poor in Irish Pen, Spanish 
Town, St. Catherine on Thursday, July 20. 

8. AVP, Group Corporate Communication, 
Simone Clarke-Cooper and SVL staff 
rejoice with  Food for the Poor house 
beneficiary, Beverly Foote who received the 
keys to her brand new two bedroom house 
in Irish Pen, Spanish Town, St. Catherine 
on Thursday, July 20. SVL contributed $3 
million to the charity’s home building 5K 
Run/Walk initiative, which helped to build 
seven houses overall for families in 2017.

9. SVREL Senior Marketing and Hospitality 
Officer, Michka Smith hands out back-to-
school gifts and words of encouragement 
to students from Independence City 
Primary School. A team from SVREL visited 
the school on September 4 to hand out 
the packages and a cheque of $500,000 
as part of their $2 million back-to-
school initiative to facilitate repairs and 
improvements to schools in Portmore.

10. AVP, Group Corporate Communication, 
Simone Clarke-Cooper engages with one 
of the 260 wards of the State who were 
invited to the Annual Bun and Cheese 
Easter Egg Hunt on Easter Monday at 
Jamzone Bowling Alley. 

11. Children enjoy the rides at the Annual Bun 
and Cheese Easter Egg Hunt on Easter 
Monday at Jamzone Bowling Alley. Over 
200 wards of the State were invited to 
enjoy a day of bowling and games courtesy 
of SVL. 

12. SVL Corporate Communication 
Officer, Stephanie Todd hands over 
a symbolic cheque to Kathy Chang, 
Head of the Jamaica Autism Support 
Association (JASA). Supreme Ventures 

held a fundraising bake sale in order to 
commemorate Autism Month in April and 
matched and donated the proceeds to 
JASA. Also pictured is Dayna Supersad-
Marks of Supreme Ventures (far left) and 
other members of JASA. 

13. SVL Planning and Activations Officer, 
Jhana Edwards watches as Grade Three 
and Four students and teachers from 
Johnson Mountain Primary explore one of 
the three computers donated to the school 
in January. The computers, which were 
placed in the school library, will be used to 
kick-start the school’s computer literacy 
programme.

14. SVREL COO, Brando Hayden (centre) and 
AVP, Human Resources and Administration, 
Carolyn Bolt Nicholas (right) present a 
symbolic cheque of $500,000 to Principal 
at Independence City Primary School, 
Merlene Sinclair. Independence City Primary 
was among the five schools earmarked for 
assistance under SVREL’s $2 million back-
to-school initiative. 

15. SVL Planning and Activations Officer, 
Jhana Edwards and a ‘Real Recognise Real’ 
representative (far right) interact with the 
House Mother for the Jamaica Christian 
Boys Home, Alicia Martin and the wards, 
during a handover for the ‘Real Recognise 
Rea’l outreach programme.

16. Members of Supreme Ventures’ 2017 Sigma 
Fun Run team regroup after the 5K Walk/
Run race.

17. SVL Corporate Communication Officer, 
Stephanie Todd (second left) with 
#SimplyVestedInLove beneficiaries, Nadine 
Bailey (seated) and her 10-year-old hearing 
impaired daughter, Narica Morgan and their 
family, in Mosquito Valley in Red Hills, St. 
Andrew. Ms Bailey, a double amputee, was 
recommended for the #SimplyVestedInLove 
programme by her medical doctor, Nicole 
Webb (far right) who wanted to help the 
family with “Back To School” assistance.

18. SVL AVP, Group Corporate Communication, 
Simone Clarke-Cooper (right) and 
#SimplyVestedInLove beneficiary, Simone 
Barrett, share a laugh with her two young 
sons at the second presentation for SVL’s 
#SimplyVestedInLove at the company’s 
corporate office in New Kingston on August 
25. Under #SimplyVestedInLove, SVL 
Facebook fans were invited to nominate 
persons who needed back-to-school 
assistance, which the company then 
provided.

19. SVL AVP, Group Corporate Communication, 
Simone Clarke-Cooper (centre) poses 
with the first set of beneficiaries 
under #SimplyVestedInLove. Under 
#SimplyVestedInLove, SVL Facebook fans 
were invited to nominate persons who 
needed back-to-school assistance.

20. Chairman of the Supreme Ventures 
Foundation (SVF), David McBean (far 
right) presents a symbolic cheque of 
$250,000 to Keith Wellington, Principal 
of the St. Elizabeth Technical High School 
(STETHS). Also present are SVL Corporate 
Secretary, Lorna Gooden, and Former 
SVF administrator, Ovril Ebanks. STETHS 
student Satanya Wright (centre), a top 
student athlete, received a Samsung Tablet 
and was awarded the cash prize, which 
went to the school.

21. SVL President and CEO, Ann-Dawn Young 
Sang formalises SVL’s $4 million donation 
to the University Hospital of the West 
Indies, to Head of the Hospital’s Cardiology 
Unit, Dr. Marilyn Lawrence Wright. The 
funds were donated for the purchase of 
a portable echocardiogram machine in 
honour of former SVL President and CEO, 
Brian George who passed away in 2016. 
Sharing in the moment (from left to right) 
are Dr. Carl Bruce, Medical Chief of Staff 
at the UHWI; Senior Cardiologist Dr. Lisa 
Hurlock; Minister of Health, Christopher 
Tufton; Mr. George’s widow, Keneea Linton-
George; his sons Christopher and Matthew 
George and UHWI CEO, Kevin Allen. HIGHLIGHTS



22. Former Supreme Ventures Chairman, Paul Hoo (right) shakes hands 
with then Minister of Finance, the Hon. Audley Shaw (left) with 
former Chairman of Caymanas Track, Danville Walker looking on. The 
Government of Jamaica completed the divestment process of Caymanas 
Track with Supreme Ventures on Friday, February 10, 2017.

23. Former Chairman of Supreme Ventures Limited, Paul Hoo (right) presents 
the Sir John Moredecai trophy to Chairman of the Wisynco Group, William 
Mahfood (left) at the launch of the 97th Running of the Jamaica Derby 
on Tuesday, June 6. Also sharing in the moment are Brando Hayden, 
Chief Operating Officer of Supreme Ventures Racing and Entertainment 
Limited (SVREL) (far right) and Denzil Miller, Racing Secretary at SVREL. 

24. Cheers all around for the Winston Kong-owned She’s A Maneater and 
jockey, Dane Nelson, winners of the 2017 Diamond Mile.  

25. Executives from Supreme Ventures and Supreme Ventures Racing and 
Entertainment Limited pose with the trophies for the Jamaica 1000 & 
2000 Guinea Classic. From left are Chief Operating Officer at Supreme 
Ventures Racing and Entertainment Limited, Brando Hayden; Former Vice 
President, Marketing at Supreme Ventures Limited, Jason Hall; Assistant 
Vice President, Group Corporate Communications, Simone Clarke-Cooper; 
and former Chairman of Supreme Ventures and Supreme Ventures Racing 
and Entertainment Limited, Paul Hoo; Racing Director, Supreme Ventures 
and Supreme Ventures Racing and Entertainment Limited, Chris Armond 
and Racing Secretary, Supreme Ventures and Supreme Ventures Racing 
and Entertainment Limited, Denzil Miller. 

26. Chairman of Supreme Ventures Limited, W. David McConnell and 
President and CEO, Ann-Dawn Young Sang presents the 2017 Diamond 
Mile trophy to Winston Kong, owner of champion filly and winner of the 
Diamond Mile race, She’s A Maneater. Looking on are (from right to left) 
Minister of Finance, the Hon. Audley Shaw, Executive Director of the 
Betting Gaming and Lotteries Commission, Vitus Evans, Chairman of the 
Betting Gaming and Lotteries Commission, Clovis Metcalfe and champion 
trainer, Wayne DaCosta.

27. Supreme Ventures Assistant Vice President, Group Corporate 
Communication, Simone Clarke-Cooper presents a symbolic cheque for 
$57 million to L. McIntosh, the latest Lotto jackpot winner at Supreme 
Ventures headquarters in New Kingston on Friday, July 14. Mr. McIntosh 
won the July 5 jackpot with the lucky numbers 03, 12, 16, 22, 26, 28 and 
Bonus Ball 20.

28. The horses thunder out of the starting gate on the Lotto Classic Race 
Day. Trainer Richard Azan’s Market Force was awarded the $3 million 
Lotto Classic Governor’s Cup after the disqualification of first-past-the-
post Henry The Second.

29. SVL President and CEO, Ann-Dawn Young Sang has a light conversation 
with sprint legend, Usain Bolt at the 2017 Diamond Mile Race Day. Bolt 
came out to support his former coach, Glenn Mills who owns the horse, 
‘Western Warrior’. 

30. Supreme Ventures Assistant Vice President, Projects and Innovation, with 
responsibility for Acropolis Gaming Lounge, Adam Harris shakes hands 
with the winner of the $151 million Lotto jackpot, W. Cargill. Mr. Cargill 
purchased his lucky ticket for the May 6 Lotto draw at the Supreme 
Ventures-owned gaming lounge.

31. Supreme Ventures former Vice President, Finance, Lance Thomas 
congratulates Lotto winner Mr. B. Whyte on his multimillion dollar jackpot. 

32. An excited patron dips for her chance to catch the golden Mega Ball in the 
Mega Mania game at the Cash Pot Mega Ball In The Streets in Papine, St. 
Andrew on Friday, July 21. 

33. Supreme Ventures’ Draw Talent, tests out one of the new Lotto machines 
recently acquired by the company, giving the game an exciting new look 
and feel. Looking on is SVL Draw Manager, Anthony Jackson. SVL will 
start using the machines on Wednesday, March 22 for the 8:30pm Lotto 
Draw.

34. Anguilla’s first Super Lotto winner, Keith Brooks, at the hand over event at 
the La Vue Boutique Inn in Anguilla on Thursday, July 6. Mr. Brooks shared 
the Super Lotto jackpot with W. Gordon from Trelawny, Jamaica.

35. Supreme Ventures Assistant Vice President, Group Corporate 
Communication, Simone Clarke-Cooper gives some sound advice to 
the winner of the $49 million Lotto jackpot, S. O’Meally at the cheque 
presentation at the SVL Corporate Office in New Kingston on Wednesday, 
January 10.

36. The grooms lead their charges and the jockeys to the track during the 
Pick3 Race Day in November. The Pick 3 Race Day is the second in the 
Supreme Ventures Two Year Old Horseracing Series Triple Series. 

37. Super Lotto winner, W. Gordon (fourth right) poses with members of the 
Supreme Ventures team at the hand over event on Tuesday, June 27 at the 
Pegasus Hotel in New Kingston.

38. Supreme Ventures Board members from left to right, Deputy Chairman, 
Ian Levy, former Chairman, Paul Hoo and former Interim President and 
CEO, James ‘Danny’ Morrison review the 2016 Annual Report during the 
Annual General Meeting on Wednesday, May 24 at the Knutsford Court 
Hotel.
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KPMG
Chartered Accountants
P.O. Box 76
6 Duke Street
Kingston
Jamaica, W.I.
+1 (876) 922-6640
firmmail@kpmg.com.jm

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Members of 
SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Supreme Ventures Limited 
(“the Company”) comprising the separate financial statements of the 
Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Company and 
its subsidiaries (“the Group”), set out on pages 78 to 149, which comprise 
the Group’s and the Company’s statements of financial position as at 
December 31, 2017, the Group’s and the Company’s statements of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows 
for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the financial position of the Group and the Company as 
at December 31, 2017, and of the Group’s and the Company’s financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and the Jamaican 
Companies Act.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 

Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company 
in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Members of 
SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, 
were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the 
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in 
our audit

Impairment of investment 
properties

The valuation of the properties at
December 31, 2017 indicated a
decline in the market value, below
the carrying value.

Therefore, management
recognised an impairment loss of
$153,284,000 (see note 6).

The determination of market value
requires significant estimation and
is inherently subjective, as key
inputs are not observable from
available market information.

Our audit procedures included, 
amongst others:

• Assessing the qualifications, 
objectivity, independence and 
competence of the valuator.  

• Establishing the consistency 
of the valuation approaches 
used with IFRS 13, Fair 

Value Measurement and 
their suitability for use in 
determining the market value 
of the investment properties as 
at December 31, 2017.

• Evaluating the assumptions 
and underlying data used in 
determining the fair value, 
including identification of 
similar transactions and 
listings, corroborating 
discussions with the valuator, 
within our understanding of 
the market environment. 

• Assessing the adequacy of the 
disclosures in accordance with 
IAS 40, Investment Property 
and IAS 36, Impairment of 

Assets.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Members of 
SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued) 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Goodwill and intangible assets 

The Group’s goodwill and licenses
with indefinite useful lives are
tested annually for impairment
(see note 7). In addition, the
useful life of an asset that is not
being amortised, is reviewed in
each reporting period to determine
whether events and circumstances
continue to support an indefinite
useful life.

There is inherent uncertainty
involved in forecasting and
discounting future cash flows and
requires management to make
significant judgment in respect of
factors such as discount rates and
growth rates, which are the bases
of the impairment assessment.

Management concluded from its
review of the useful lives of the
licenses, that the active licenses
have a finite life of 5 years. An
impairment loss of $318,107,000,
was recognised with respect to all
inactive licenses held for VLT
gaming operations.

Our audit procedures included, amongst 
others:

• With the assistance of our valuation 
specialist, evaluating the assumptions 
and methodologies used by the Group, 
in particular those relating to the 
forecasted revenue growth for lottery 
and gaming operations. Comparing 
the Group’s assumptions to externally 
derived data as well as our own 
assessments in relation to key inputs 
such as projected economic growth, 
inflation and discount rates.

• Assessing the reasonableness of the 
cash flow projections and the underlying 
assumptions, including agreeing inputs 
to source data and comparison of past 
budgets with actual performance. 
Where budgets deviated from historical 
performance or our expectations, 
making inquiries of management to 
understand the nature and reasons for 
the variations. 

• Assessed rationale used in determination 
of the change in useful life and the 
determination of the cashgenerating 
unit.

• Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s 
disclosures in accordance with IAS 36, 
Impairment of Assets, in particular, key 
assumptions made in the determination 
of the recoverable amounts of goodwill 
and indefinite-life assets.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Members of 
SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued) 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Acquisition of horse racing business

Accounting for the acquisition of
the horse-racing business from
Caymanas Track Limited as a
business acquisition required
significant judgement and
estimation to determine the fair
value of the assets acquired, in
accordance with IFRS 3 Business
Combinations (see note 4).

The determination of fair values
involved judgment in the
application of discounted cash flow
analysis, including the projected
cash flows, discount rates
reflecting the business risk and
capital structure. These
measurements, being
judgemental, are therefore, subject
to higher risk of error.

Our audit procedures included, amongst 
others:

• Reading the implementation deed and 
related agreements to understand the 
key terms and conditions;

• Testing certain fair value adjustments 
to confirm that they are related to 
facts and circumstances that existed 
on acquisition date, and were therefore 
eligible for recognition;

• With the assistance of our valuation 
specialists, evaluating the methodology 
and assumptions in management’s value 
in use models, such as forecast revenues 
and operating costs, discount rates and 
inflation rates; and 

• Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s 
disclosures in respect of the business 
acquisition.

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information
primarily comprises the information contained in the Group’s annual report 
but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. The annual report is expected to be made available to us after the 
date of this auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Members of 
SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

Other information (continued) 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to
read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.  

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the 
Board of Directors. 

Responsibility of Management and Board of Directors for the Financial 

Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and the Jamaican 
Companies Act, and for such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible 
for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Group and the Company or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Members of 
SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

(Continued)

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements is included in the Appendix of this auditors’ report. This 
description, which is located at pages 76 and 77, forms part of our 
auditors’ report.

Report on Additional Matters as Required by the Jamaican Companies Act

We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best 
of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been maintained, so far as
appears from our examination of those records, and the financial 
statements, which are in agreement therewith, give the information 
required by the Jamaican Companies Act, in the manner required.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent 
auditors’ report is R. Tarun Handa.

Chartered Accountants
Kingston, Jamaica

February 26, 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Members of 
SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Appendix to the Independent Auditors’ Report

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the internal control of the Group and the Company.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made 
by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company 
to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business activities within the group to 
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Members of 
SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Appendix to the Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have 
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and 
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we 
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of 
the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless 
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 
of such communication.
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Group Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2017

Notes 2017 2016

ASSETS $’000 $’000

Non-current assets

Property and equipment 5 1,164,479 732,392

Investment properties 6 618,299 815,275

Goodwill and intangible assets 7 317,555 645,705

Long-term receivables 9 29,782 522,029

Available-for-sale investments 10 1,883 8,843

Other investment 11 18,852 19,667

Deferred tax asset 12    166,180    117,445

Total non-current assets 2,317,030 2,861,356

Current assets

Inventories 13 197,461 192,601

Income tax recoverable 25,680 15,385

Assets held for sale 15      92,010         -       

Short-term investment 16 100,000         -       

Trade and other receivables 17 1,002,229 864,100

Cash and cash equivalents 18 2,440,750 1,499,908

Total current assets 3,858,130 2,571,994

Total assets 6,175,160 5,433,350

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Stockholders’ equity

Share capital 19 1,967,183 1,967,183

Capital reserve 20 62,486 62,486

Fair value reserve 21 -       3,480

Retained earnings 22 1,091,555 1,767,052

Total stockholders’ equity 3,121,224 3,800,201

Non-current liabilities 

Long-term payables 23    276,871      26,604

Finance lease obligation 24    315,712         -       

Total non-current liabilities    592,583      26,604

Current liabilities

Prize liabilities 25 400,780 242,839

Trade and other payables 26 1,746,177 1,341,285

Income tax payable    314,396      22,421

Total current liabilities 2,461,353 1,606,545

Total stockholders’ equity and liabilities 6,175,160 5,433,350

The financial statements on pages 78 to 149 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on February 
26, 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

Director Director

W. David McConnell Ann-Dawn Young Sang
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Group Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended December 31, 2017

Notes 2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Revenue 27 56,186,633 44,921,339

Direct expenses 28 (50,558,111) (40,812,837)

Gross profit 5,628,522 4,108,502

Operating expenses 29 (3,620,635) (2,709,768)

Profit from operations 2,007,887 1,398,734

Impairment loss on intangible assets 7(a) (318,107) -        

Interest income 90,995 66,553

Net foreign exchange gains 30 628 11,988

Finance costs 31 (61,491) (323)

Other gains 32        124,755      184,940

Profit before taxation 33 1,844,667 1,661,892

Taxation 34 (647,713) (483,424)

Profit for the year 1,196,954 1,178,468

Other comprehensive income

Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Realised gain on available-for-sale investments (3,480) -        

Unrealised gain on available-for sale investments 10          -                 3,480

Total comprehensive income for the year   1,193,474   1,181,948

Earnings per stock unit 35 45.39 cents 44.69 cents
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Group Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended December 31, 2017

Share 
capital

Capital 
reserve

Fair value 
reserve

Retained 
earnings Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(Note 19) (Note 20) (Note 21) (Note 22)

Balance as at December 31, 2015 1,967,183 62,486 -    1,564,368 3,594,037

Total comprehensive income for 

the year

Profit for the year -        -     -    1,178,468 1,178,468

Other comprehensive income:

Unrealised gain on available- 
for-sale investments -        -     3,480 -               3,480

Total comprehensive income for 
the year -        -     3,480 1,178,468 1,181,948

Transactions with stockholders

Distributions (note 39) -        -     -    (975,784) (975,784)

Balance as at December 31, 2016 1,967,183 62,486 3,480 1,767,052 3,800,201

Total comprehensive income for 

the year

Profit for the year -        -     -    1,196,954 1,196,954

Other comprehensive income:

Realised gain on available- for-sale 
investments -        -     (3,480) -        (3,480)

Total comprehensive income for 
the year -        -     (3,480) 1,196,954 1,193,474

Transactions with stockholders

Distributions (note 39) -        -     -    (1,872,451) (1,872,451)

Balance as at December 31, 2017 1,967,183 62,486 -    1,091,555 3,121,224
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Group Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31, 2017

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit for the year 1,196,954 1,178,468

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property and equipment 266,411 180,157

Depreciation of investment properties 43,692 43,692

Amortisation of intangible assets 29,695 11,325

Loss on disposal and write-off of property and equipment 12,525 6,179

Impairment of investment properties 153,284 -       

Reversal of impairment of investment properties - (102,729)

Impairment of intangible assets 318,107 -

Gains recognised on available for sale investments (3,742) -

Gains recognised on purchase of business assets (3,936) -

Bad debts recognised 30,996 52,846

Net foreign exchange gain (23,929) (10,222)

Interest income (90,995) (66,553)

Interest expense 54,953 323

Taxation    647,713    483,424

Operating cash flow before movement in working capital 2,631,728 1,776,910

Decrease/(increase) in operating assets

Inventories 4,477 (43,188)

Trade and other receivables (217,209) (183,921)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities

Trade and other payables 283,311 78,380

Prize liabilities    157,126 (6,030)

Cash generated by operations 2,859,433 1,622,151

Income tax paid (414,768) (727,416)

Interest paid (28,190) (323)

Cash provided by operating activities 2,416,475    894,412

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Business acquisition (305,752) -

Acquisition of property and equipment (198,563) (169,035)

Acquisition of intangible assets (18,633) (14,251)

Proceeds on disposal of property and equipment 1,565 2,212

Proceeds on disposal of available for sale investments 7,222 -

Long-term receivables 543,778 47,703

Other investment 815 (19,667)

Short-term investment (100,000) -

Interest received       87,548      66,925

Cash provided by/(used in)  investing activities      17,980 (86,113)

Cash flows from operating and investing activities carried forward 2,434,455    808,299
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Group Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
Year ended December 31, 2017

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating and investing activities brought forward 2,434,455    808,299

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Long term payables 370,409      18,122

Dividends paid (1,872,451) (975,784)

Cash used in financing activities (1,502,042) (957,662)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 932,413 (149,363)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents held in foreign 
currency 8,429 10,222

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,499,908 1,639,049

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 2,440,750 1,499,908
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Company Statement of Financial Position
Year ended December 31, 2017

Notes 2017 2016

$’000 $’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property and equipment 5 94,193 102,356

Goodwill and intangible assets 7 193,239 193,379

Investment in subsidiaries 8 2,094,412 2,094,412

Long-term receivables 9 - 490,721

Available-for-sale investments 10 1,883 8,843

Deferred tax asset 12 5,478 2,185

Total non-current assets 2,389,205 2,891,896

Current assets

Income tax recoverable 14,939 12,022

Due from subsidiaries 14(a) 468,582 161,899

Short-term investment 16 100,000 -

Trade and other receivables 17 20,848 91,431

Cash and cash equivalents 18 107,869    104,606

Total current assets 712,238    369,958

Total assets 3,101,443 3,261,854

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Stockholders’ equity

Share capital 19 1,967,183 1,967,183

Capital reserve 20 62,486 62,486

Fair value reserve 21 - 3,480

Retained earnings 22    610,542    961,791

Total stockholders’ equity 2,640,211 2,994,940

Non-current liabilities

Long-term loans 23    258,805 -

Total non-current liabilities    258,805 -

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 26 199,624    116,914

Due to subsidiary 14(b)        2,803    150,000

Total current liabilities    202,427    266,914

Total equity and liabilities 3,101,443 3,261,854

The financial statements on pages 78 to 149 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on February 
26, 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

Director Director

W. David McConnell Ann-Dawn Young Sang
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Company Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income
Year ended December 31, 2017

Notes 2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Management fees 27 484,926 395,000

Dividend income from wholly-owned subsidiaries 1,517,000 1,000,000

Operating expenses 29 (496,586) (593,316)

Profit from operations 1,505,340 801,684

Interest income 45,386 48,364

Net foreign exchange losses 30 (1,364) (265)

Finance costs 31 (36,381) -

Other gains 32        3,742 -

Profit before taxation 33 1,516,723 849,783

Taxation 34        4,479 (2,367)

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income 1,521,202 847,416

Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Realised gain on available-for-sale investments (3,480) -

Unrealised gain on available-for-sale investments 10 -        3,480

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,517,722    850,896
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Company Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended December 31, 2017

Share 
capital

Capital 
reserve

Fair value 
reserve

Retained 
earnings Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(Note 19) (Note 20) (Note 21) (Note 22)

Balance as at December 31, 2015 1,967,183 62,486 - 1,090,159 3,119,828

Total comprehensive income for the 

year

Profit for the year - - - 847,416 847,416

Other comprehensive income:

Unrealised gain on available-for-sale 
investment - - 3,480 -        3,480

Total comprehensive income for the 
year -       -     3,480    847,416    850,896

Transactions with stockholders

Distributions (note 39) -       -     - (975,784) (975,784)

Balance as at December 31, 2016 1,967,183 62,486 3,480 961,791 2,994,940

Profit for the year -       -     -    1,521,202 1,521,202

Other comprehensive income:

Realised gain on available-for-sale 
investments - -     (3,480) - (3,480)

Total comprehensive income for the 
year - - (3,480) 1,521,202 1,517,722

Transactions with stockholders

Distributions (note 39) - - -    (1,872,451) (1,872,451)

Balance as at December 31, 2017 1,967,183 62,486 -       610,542 2,640,211
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Company Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31, 2017

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit for the year 1,521,202 847,416

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property and equipment 8,977 6,800

Amortisation of intangible assets 1,568 515

Dividend income (1,517,000) (1,000,000)

Gain recognised on available for sale investment (3,742) -

Net foreign exchange gain on cash and cash equivalents 419 (538)

Loss on disposal and write-off of property and equipment - 142

Interest income (45,386) (48,364)

Interest expense 29,843 -

Taxation (4,479)        2,367

Operating cash flow before movements in working capital (8,598) (191,662)

Decrease/(increase) in operating assets

Due from subsidiaries (306,683) 65,276

Trade and other receivables 40,942 53,883

Income tax recoverable (1,731) (67)

(Decrease)/increase in operating liabilities

Due to subsidiaries (147,197) -

Trade and other payables (41,716)        7,852

Cash used by operations (464,983) (64,718)

Interest paid (27,548)         -       

Cash used in operating activities (492,531) (64,718)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of property and equipment (814) (23,153)

Acquisition of other intangible assets (1,428) (3,941)

Proceeds on disposal of available-for sale-investment   7,222 -

Long-term receivables 523,336 30,266

Short-term investment (100,000) -

Dividends received 1,517,000 1,000,000

Interest received      42,414      48,859

Cash provided by investing activities 1,987,730 1,052,031

Cash flows from operating and investing activities carried forward 1,495,199    987,313
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Company Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
Year ended December 31, 2017

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating and investing activities brought forward 1,495,199 987,313

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid (1,872,451) (975,784)

Loan proceeds     380,934 -

Cash used in financing activities (1,491,517) (975,784)

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 3,682 11,529

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents held in foreign 
currencies (419) 538

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 104,606 92,539

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 107,869 104,606

87People | Pursuits | Performance Supreme Ventures Limited Annual Report 2017



SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2017

1. Identification

Supreme Ventures Limited (the Company) is a public limited liability company which is listed on the 
Jamaica Stock Exchange. The Company’s registered office is located at the 4th Floor, R. Danny Williams 
Building, 28-48 Barbados Avenue, Kingston 5, Jamaica, W.I.

The main activity of the Company is the management of its subsidiary companies (“subsidiaries”).  

The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as “the Group” and are all incorporated in 
Jamaica.

The subsidiaries that are consolidated and their principal activities are as follows:

Name of company Principal activity
Percentage 
ownership

%

Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited and its 
wholly-owned subsidiaries:

Betting, gaming and lottery operations 
licensed by the Betting, Gaming and 
Lotteries Commission (BGLC) 100

Bingo Investments Limited Not trading

Chillout Ventures Limited Not trading

Big ‘A’ Track 2003 Limited Pin code sales 100

Supreme Ventures Racing and 
Entertainment Limited

Betting and horse-racing operations 
licensed by BGLC and Jamaica Racing 
Commission (JRC) 100

Supreme Ventures Financial Services 
Limited

Supreme Ventures Lotteries Limited Not trading 100

Transtel Jamaica Limited Not trading 100

Jamaica Lottery Company Holdings 
Limited Not trading 100

Supreme Ventures Holding Limited Not trading 100

Socrates Betting Company Limited Not trading 100

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation 

(a) Statement of compliance

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and comply with the relevant 
provisions of the Jamaican Companies Act (“the Act”).

A summary of significant accounting policies is included in note 43.
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2017

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued) 

(b) Basis of measurement

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the inclusion of 
available-for-sale investments at fair value.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Jamaica dollars ($), which is the functional currency of the 
Company and all its subsidiaries.

(d) Use of estimates and judgment

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 
estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of, and disclosures relating to, assets, liabilities, contingent assets and contingent 
liabilities at the reporting date and the income and expenses for the year then ended. Although 
these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual 
amounts could differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods, if the revision affects both 
current and future periods.

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements are described in note 3.

(e) Where necessary, comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform with changes in the 
presentation in the current year.

3. Accounting estimates and judgments

The key sources of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that 
have the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements, or which have a risk 
of material adjustment in the next year, are as follows:

(i) Impairment of property and equipment and investment properties

IFRS requires that an impairment review be performed when certain impairment indicators are 
present. These conditions include obsolescence, physical damage, significant changes in the 
manner by which an asset is used, worse than expected economic performance, drop in revenues 
or other external indicators. 
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2017

3. Accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

(i) Impairment of property and equipment and investment properties (continued)

Determining the recoverable amount of property and equipment and investment properties, requires 
(i) the determination of future cash flows expected to be generated from the continued use as well 
as ultimate disposition of such assets and (ii) making estimates and assumptions that can materially 
affect the financial statements. Future events may cause management to conclude that property 
and equipment and investment properties are impaired.  Any resulting impairment loss could have a 
material adverse impact on the Group’s financial position and results of operations. 

The preparation of estimated future cash flows involves significant estimations and assumptions. 
While management believes that the assumptions are appropriate and reasonable, significant 
changes in the assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable values and may 
lead to future impairment charges.

(ii) Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets is dependent upon management’s internal assessment 
of future cash flows from the cash-generating units that gave rise to the goodwill and intangible 
assets. That internal assessment determines the amount recoverable from future use of those units.  
In addition, the estimate of the amount recoverable from future use of those units is sensitive to the 
discount rates used. 

(iii) Allowance for impairment losses on receivables

In determining amounts recorded for impairment of accounts receivable in the financial statements, 
management makes judgements regarding indicators of impairment, that is, whether there are 
indicators that suggest there may be a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows 
from accounts receivable, for example, repayment default and adverse economic conditions. 
Management also makes estimates of the likely estimated future cash flows from impaired accounts 
receivable, as well as the timing of such cash flows. Historical loss experience is applied where 
indicators of impairment are not observable on individual significant accounts receivable and total 
trade accounts receivable with similar characteristics, such as credit risks.

4. Acquisition of horse-racing business

On March 15, 2016, the Company was selected by the Government of Jamaica (GOJ) as the preferred 
bidder for the acquisition of the horse-racing, simulcast horse-racing promotion and pari-mutuel 
pool operations of Caymanas Track Limited (CTL). On February 10, 2017, the Company, its nominee 
subsidiary, Supreme Ventures Racing & Entertainment Limited (SVREL), the GOJ and CTL, signed an 
agreement (Agreement) for SVREL to acquire CTL’s operations, which provides for:
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2017

4. Acquisition of horse-racing business (continued)

• The purchase of chattels owned by CTL; 
• The assignment of the CTL Logo to SVREL; and 
• A thirty (30) year renewable lease of CTL’s property, extendable at the option of SVREL, or its 

assignee, for a further term of thirty (30) years.  

The commencement date of the acquisition, the assignment and the lease was March 7, 2017. 

Since the date of acquisition, the horse-racing operations has contributed revenue of $4,834,242,000 
and attributable post-acquisition loss of $204,786,000 to the Group’s results in the period to December 
31, 2017.   If the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2017, management estimates that revenue 
from horse-racing operations would have been $5,801,090,000, and the loss for the period would 
have been $245,743,000. In determining these amounts, management has assumed that the fair value 
adjustments, determined provisionally, that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the same 
if the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2017.  

The following summarises the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities recognised by the Group 
at the date of acquisition:

(i) Identifiable assets acquired

2017

$’000

Inventories 9,337

Property and equipment (note 5) 606,035

Intangible assets (note 7)     1,019

616,391

Consideration transferred:

Cash 305,752

Finance lease obligation (note 24) 306,703

612,455

Gain on acquisition 3,936

(ii) Cash flow on acquisition

2017

$’000

Total cash transferred, being net cash used in acquisition 305,752

(iii) Acquisition-related costs

The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of $13,510,644, of which $8,266,230 was incurred 
by the Company.  These costs have been included in ‘operating expenses’ in profit for the period.
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2017

4. Acquisition of horse-racing business (continued)

(iv) The fair value of certain material asset categories was established as follows:

1. Property and equipment:

The value of leased property was the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and present 
value of the minimum lease payments.  The value of equipment was assessed through cost 
techniques, specifically the depreciated replacement cost methodology to account for physical 
deterioration as well as functional and economic obsolescence.

2. Intangible assets:

The value of acquired contracts was assessed through the use of the income approach involving 
discounted cash flow techniques.  Management assessed the value of the intangible assets as 
not significant and hence the amounts were not recognised.

(v) Contingent consideration payable

The Group has a commitment to develop and modernize the Caymanas Park, which involves the 
following outlays:

Milestone Implementation period from commencement date $’000

Phase 1 Within two (2) years 200,000

Phase 2 Between year three (3) and year (5) 300,000

500,000

If the Group fails to implement any milestone by the relevant deadline, the Group shall deposit with 
CTL the amount allocated for the achievement of said milestone and CTL shall hold the funds in 
escrow in a commercial bank in Jamaica provided that:

(a) If milestone is later achieved or replaced as agreed by the Group and GOJ’s Project Monitoring 
Committee, the funds together with interest thereon shall be returned to the Group; or

(b) If the lease is terminated without the achievement of said or replaced milestone, CTL shall be 
entitled to retain the funds together with interest thereon. 

Management has not recognised a contingent liability as the likelihood of the milestone not being 
achieved is insignificant.

(vi) Bargain purchase

The consideration of $612,455,000 is less than the net assets of the business of $616,391,000 
thereby resulting in a gain of $3,936,000, recognised in the statement of profit and loss and other 
comprehensive income. The bargain purchase has resulted from the application of measurement 
principles in accordance with IFRS 3.
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2017

6. Investment properties

The Group

Freehold 
land

Freehold 
buildings Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Cost

Balance at December 31, 2016 and 2017 154,221 873,840 1,028,061

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at December 31, 2015       -      271,823 271,823

Depreciation       -      43,692 43,692

Reversal of impairment (note 32)       -      (102,729) (102,729)

Balance at December 31, 2016       -      212,786 212,786

Depreciation -        43,692      43,692 

Impairment       -      153,284    153,284

Balance at December 31, 2017       -      409,762    409,762

Net book values

December 31, 2017 154,221 464,078    618,299

December 31, 2016 154,221 661,054    815,275

Investment properties include the Group’s interest in freehold land held by Jonepar Development 
Limited, a related party, amounting to $34.2 million (2016: $34.2 million). The properties were valued by 
independent valuators, NAI Jamaica: Langford & Brown (2016: Allison Pitter & Co.) as at December 31, 
2017, who estimated a value of $618 million (2016: $820 million).  This is categorised as level 3 in the 
fair value hierarchy.

The Group has leased its investment properties to Exodus Gaming and Entertainment Limited (Exodus) 
for an initial period of fifteen years commencing on August 11, 2015, with an option to renew the lease 
for a further fifteen years.  

Exodus also has the option to purchase the property at any time after the fifth anniversary of the 
commencement date at a price to be agreed between Exodus and PSJL within sixty days of the 
option notice being served.  If no agreement is reached within the stipulated time, then the price will 
be the higher of US$4,500,000 or the market value on the date of the option notice, as determined by 
independent valuators.

Rental income of $19.4 million (2016: $14.7 million) was earned from investment properties for the 
current reporting period.  Direct operating expenses incurred during the year in relation to investment 
properties amounted to $5.6 million (2016: $4.7 million).
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2017

7. Goodwill and intangible assets (continued)

(a) Licences

Licences include Video Lottery Terminal (VLT) licences for certain gaming lounge operations which 
were previously considered to have an indefinite useful life and were assessed for impairment 
annually.  Due to a shift in the strategic approach to managing the VLT lounges and changes in 
the regulatory environment, management has appropriately adjusted its identification of the cash-
generating unit to each VLT lounge and not the VLT lounge operations as a whole.  On this basis, an 
impairment loss of $318,107,000 has been recognised on all inactive licences for VLT lounges not 
currently in operation. Management has determined that the remaining licence, at December 31, 
2016, has an estimated useful life of 5 years based on the maximum tenure stated in the Betting, 
Gaming and Lotteries Act. The impairment test is carried out by comparing the recoverable amount, 
as determined based on value in use calculations, with the carrying value of the assets and licences 
assigned to these operations.  Revenue growth was projected for the next seven (7) years and 
the recoverable amount was determined to be higher than its carrying amount and no impairment 
loss was recognised.  The seven (7) year period was used because the VLT operations are in an 
investment phase and the next three (3) years are projected to yield volatile results.

The key assumptions used in the estimation of value in use were as follows:

The Group

2017 2016

Pre-tax discount rate 22.8% 22.5%

Terminal value growth rate 4.0% 4.0%

Budgeted EBITDA growth rate   5.0%   5.0%

(b) Software usage rights

This comprises one-time software user rights fee paid to Intralot Jamaica Limited related to sports 
betting. The amount is being amortised over the life of the contract, which is ten (10) years.

(c) The amortisation of computer software, trademarks and licences and software usage rights is 
included in operating expenses (note 29).

(d) Goodwill

The Group and the Company

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Goodwill 189,953 189,953

The goodwill impairment test is carried out by comparing the recoverable amount of the Group’s 
cash-generating unit (CGU) to which goodwill has been allocated, to the carrying amount of that 
CGU.  The only CGU recognising goodwill for the Group is the Lottery segment.
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2017

7. Goodwill and intangible assets (continued)

(d) Goodwill (continued)

Management has determined that goodwill at December 31, 2017 is not impaired based on an 
assessment of the recoverable amount of the CGU. The recoverable amount of the CGU was 
determined based on value-in-use calculations.  Revenue growth was projected for the next seven 
(7) years and the recoverable amount was determined to be higher than its carrying amount and no 
impairment loss was recognised.  A five (5) year projection would not have affected management’s 
assessment.

The key assumptions used in the estimation of value-in-use were as follows:

The Group and the Company

2017 2016

Pre-tax discount rate 20.8% 21.8%

Terminal value growth rate 2.0% 2.0%

Budgeted EBITDA growth rate   2.5%   2.0%

8. Investment in subsidiaries

The Company

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited 1,938,651 1,938,651

Supreme Ventures Racing and Entertainment Limited 150,000 150,000

Big ‘A’ Track 2003 Limited 5,760 5,760

Non-trading subsidiaries 1 1

2,094,412 2,094,412

9. Long-term receivables

The Group The Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(a) Radio Jamaica Limited -    18,806 -      -      

(b) ICE Jamaica Limited -    523,335 -      523,335

(c) Island Holdings Limited
US$282,750 (2016: US$291,751) 30,899   32,536  -      -      

30,899 574,677 -      523,335

Current portion (note 17) (  1,117) (  52,648) -      (  32,614)

29,782 522,029 -      490,721
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2017

9. Long-term receivables (continued)

(a) Radio Jamaica Limited

This represents a credit facility provided by Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited to Radio Jamaica Limited 
to establish, equip and commission a television broadcasting studio to air live television broadcasts 
of lottery drawings. The facility, which attracted interest of 6% per annum on a reducing balance 
basis and was repayable by forty-eight (48) consecutive monthly principal and interest payments of 
$1,761,377, was fully repaid during the year.

(b) ICE Jamaica Limited

On December 10, 2014, the Board of Directors approved a funding facility to a total amount of the 
Jamaica dollar equivalent of US$5 million to ICE Jamaica Limited, a company with whom Prime 
Sports (Jamaica) Limited (PSJL) is partnering to develop a VLT “route” gaming infrastructure.  
Outstanding amounts under the facility attracted interest at 8% per annum, payable quarterly. The 
facility was fully settled during the year.

(c) Island Holdings Limited (IHL)

On April 27, 2015, IHL purchased the shares of Exodus Gaming and Entertainment Limited (Exodus), 
which was incorporated by PSJL on February 20, 2015, for US$300,000.  Payment of the sale 
proceeds commenced on February 1, 2016, and is to be paid in 121 instalments of US$750 per 
month for the first five years and US$1,500 for the next five years with a final lump sum payment 
of US$165,000.  No interest is charged on the outstanding balance, but overdue payments attract 
interest at twelve (12) percent per annum from the due date of payment until the past due amount 
is settled.

As the receivable is interest-free it has been re-measured in accordance with IAS 39, with interest 
being imputed based on an appropriate market rate.  The imputed interest is being amortised over 
the repayment period and the amount shown is net of the unamortised discount of $4.3 million 
(2016: $4.8 million) at the reporting date using the effective interest method.

The balance outstanding is secured by a charge on the shares in Exodus.  The sale agreement also 
requires an option to purchase in which IHL or its nominee was granted an option to purchase at an 
option price of US$1.00, PSJL’s interest in Jonepar Development Limited and a licence agreement 
permitting IHL or its nominee to use lands owned by Jonepar for parking purposes (note 6).
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SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2017

10. Available-for-sale investments

The Group and the Company

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Quoted investment:

At beginning of year 6,960 3,480

Disposal (7,222) -    

Gain on disposal    262 3,480

At end of year -    6,960

Unquoted investment 1,883 1,883

1,883 8,843

11. Other investment

This represents cash invested by the Group to fund prize liabilities associated with the PayDay game 
[note 23(b)].  The Group has contracted with a licensed security dealer to act as the investment manager 
and paying agent to fulfil the prize liability stream consequent on PayDay wins. At the reporting date, 
the sums were invested in a resale agreement, the fair value of underlying securities of which was 
$19,794,600 (2016: $20,621,000).

12. Deferred tax asset

The Group The Company

2017 2016 2017 2017

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deferred tax asset 166,180 117,445 5,478 2,185

Deferred taxation is attributable to the following:

(a) Group

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Property and equipment 70,294 37,158

Investment properties 16,893 16,281

Intangible assets (3,168) (7,751)

Trade and other receivables (2,238) 134

Trade and other payables 18,166 954

Tax losses 63,438 71,456

Other 2,795 (787)

Net Asset 166,180 117,445
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12. Deferred tax asset (continued)

(a) Group (continued)

(i) Net deferred tax is recognised in the Group Statement of Financial Position, as follows:

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Deferred tax assets in Company 5,478 2,185

Deferred tax assets in subsidiaries  160,702 115,260

Deferred tax assets 166,180 117,445

(ii) Movements in net temporary differences during the year are as follows:

2017

Balance at 
January 1

Recognised 
in profit/loss

Balance at 
December 31

$’000 $’000 $’000

[note 34(a)]

Property and equipment 37,158 33,136 70,294

Investment properties 16,281 612 16,893

Intangible assets (7,751) 4,583 (3,168)

Trade and other receivables 134 (2,372) (2,238)

Trade and other payables 954 17,212 18,166

Tax losses 71,456 (8,018) 63,438

Other (787)     3,582 2,795

117,445 48,735 166,180

2016

Balance at 
January 1

Recognised 
in profit/loss

Balance at 
December 31

$’000 $’000 $’000

[note 34(a)]

Property and equipment 25,099 12,059 37,158

Investment properties 36,677 (20,396) 16,281

Intangible assets (8,669) 918 (7,751)

Trade and other receivables (3,922) 4,056 134

Trade and other payables 900 54 954

Tax losses 86,993 (15,537) 71,456

Other 804 (1,591) (787)

137,882 20,437) 117,445
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12. Deferred tax asset (continued)

(b) Company

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Property and equipment 3,728 3,198

Trade and other receivables (2,089) (1,151)

Trade and other payables 574 117

Unused tax losses 3,555 -

Other (   290)      21

Net asset 5,478 2,185

Movements in net temporary differences during the year are as follows:

2017

Balance at 
January 1

Recognised 
in profit/loss

Balance at 
December 31

$’000 $’000 $’000

[note 34(a)]

Property and equipment 3198 530 3,728

Trade and other receivables (1,151) (938) (2,089)

Trade and other payables 117 457    574

Unused tax losses - 3,555 3,555

Other      21 (311) (290)

2,185 3,293 5,478

2016

Balance at 
January 1

Recognised 
in profit/loss

Balance at 
December 31

$’000 $’000 $’000

[note 34(a)]

Property and equipment 4,324 (1,126) 3,198

Trade and other receivables (1,455) 304 (1,151)

Trade and other payables 498 (   381) 117

Other -        21      21

3,367 (1,182) 2,185
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13. Inventories

The Group

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Pin codes 179,697 190,459

Operational inventory 15,042 -

Beverage supplies 2,722 2,142

197,461 192,601

The cost of inventories recognised as direct expense during the year for the Group was $9.1 billion 
(2016: $7.9 billion).

14. Due from/(to) subsidiaries

The Company

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

(a) Due from subsidiaries:

Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited 123,961 160,307

Supreme Ventures Racing & Entertainment Limited 344,621 -     

Big ‘A’ Track 2003 Limited -         1,465

Bingo Investments Limited -            127 

468,582 161,899  

(b) Due to subsidiary

Supreme Ventures Racing & Entertainment Limited -     150,000   

Big ‘A’ Track 2003 Limited     2,803 -     

    2,803 150,000

These are current balances which are unsecured and interest free.

15. Assets held for sale

In October 2017, the Group committed to sell a property along with leasehold improvements and 
selected furniture and fixtures [notes 5(iii)].  The details of the assets transferred were as follows:

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Freehold buildings 90,512 -

Leasehold improvements 1,411 -

Furniture and fixtures        87 -

92,010 -

On January 16, 2018, the sale of the property and equipment [note 5(iii)] was completed.  The selling 
price, less cost to sell, was $138.2 million.  The gain on sale of $46.2 million will be recognised in profit 
or loss in the next financial year..
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16. Short-term investment

As a condition of the loan granted [see note 23(c)], the Company is required to maintain a minimum cash 
balance of $100 million. This is to be held in a deposit account with Sagicor Bank Jamaica Limited, at a 
minimum deposit rate of 2% per annum.

17. Trade and other receivables

The Group The Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade receivables [(a), (b) 
and (c)] 1,014,058 812,170 -     -     

Other receivables and 
prepayments (e)    400,663    385,337 13,273 54,214

1,414,721 1,197,507 13,273 54,214

Less: Allowance for doubtful 
debts (d) (421,777) (390,781) -     -     

Current portion of long-term    992,944 806,726 13,273 54,214

receivables (note 9) 1,117 52,648 -     32,614

Accrued interest        8,168        4,726   7,575   4,603

1,002,229    864,100 20,848 91,431

(a) Included in trade receivables are amounts of $934.55 million (2016: $788.53 million) representing 
amounts receivable from agents that support lottery and sports betting sales. The average credit 
period for the receivables is 7 days. Balances outstanding for over 7 days are considered past due. 

The average credit period for the remaining balance in trade receivables is 30 days.

(b) Trade receivables above include amounts (see aged analysis below) that are past due as at the end 
of the reporting period but against which the Group has not recognised an allowance for doubtful 
receivables because there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are 
still considered recoverable. 

Management believes that past due unimpaired receivables are of good quality.

(c) Ageing of trade receivables:

The Group

2017 2016

Gross Impairment Gross  Impairment

$’000 $’000 $’000   $’000

Current 584,125 -     370,750 -     

8 to 30 days 25,255 (    5,887) 51,022 (    3,287)

31 - 60 days 2,807 (       774) 1,893 (       709)

61 - 90 days 2,966 (    2,938) 2,032 (       312)

Over 90 days    398,905 (398,646) 386,473 (386,473)

1,014,058 (408,245) 812,170 (390,781)
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17. Trade and other receivables (continued)

(d) Movement in allowance for impairment of trade and other receivables:

The Group

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 390,781 344,944

Impairment losses recognised 47,567 70,484

Impairment losses recovered (  16,571) (  17,638)

Amounts written-off -      (    7,009)

Balance at end of year 421,777 390,781

(e) The Group provides its key management personnel and directors with short-term loans and 
advances in accordance with its policy on granting loans or making advances to employees of the 
Company and its principal subsidiary.  Included in other receivables are amounts due from related 
parties totalling $5.1 million (2016: $43.2 million).  Of the amounts due from related parties, $Nil 
(2016: $40.2 million) is due from directors and the remaining balance is due from key management 
personnel.  Interest is charged on loans and advances to key management personnel and directors 
at an annual rate of 6.5% (2016: 6.5%).

18. Cash and cash equivalents

The Group The Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash in hand and at bank (a) 1,995,969 1,436,358 69,701 96,783

Certificates of deposits (b) 381,172 19,552 38,168 7,823

Resale agreements (c)      63,609      43,998 -     -     

2,440,750 1,499,908 107,869 104,606

(a) Cash in hand and at bank includes restricted balances as follows:

(i) An amount of $20 million (2016: $20 million), which is the minimum regulatory requirement to 
fund the Lucky 5 and Top Draw game, was set aside as reserve by Prime Sports (Jamaica) 
Limited (PSJL), a subsidiary;

(ii) As a condition of its lottery licence, PSJL is required to establish a dedicated bank account 
into which funds are deposited to ensure that on a continuous basis throughout the term of the 
licence, the credit balance on that account is not less than 100% of the aggregate amount of 
its liabilities, which include prize liabilities, fees payable to BGLC, gaming taxes payable to the 
Government of Jamaica and contribution to CHASE Fund.  At the reporting date, the balances 
in the dedicated bank accounts totalled $809 million (2016: $626 million), which is in excess of 
the reserve requirement of $322.6 million (2016: $210.18 million); and

(iii) An amount of $5.8 million (2016: $5.8 million) is restricted to facilitate a guarantee issued in 
favour of Jamaica Public Service Company Limited for the provision of electricity services.
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18. Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

(a) Cash in hand and at bank includes restricted balances as follows (continued):

(iv) Cash and cash equivalents includes $42 million (2016: $Nil), which represents restricted funds 
relating to monies managed by Supreme Ventures Racing & Entertainment Limited on behalf of 
racehorse owners and are used to claim/buy horses from other owners.

(b) Certificates of deposits include $10 million (2016: $10 million) which was hypothecated as support 
for a performance bond guarantee to BGLC for certain financial obligations of a subsidiary under the 
BGLC Act and Regulations.  The bond expires in June 2018 [note 42(c)].

(c) As at December 31, 2017, the fair value of the underlying securities of resale agreements amounted 
to $70,593,000 (2016: $52,858,000).

19. Share capital

Authorised:

3,000,000,000 ordinary shares at no par value

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Stated capital:

2,637,254,926 ordinary stock units, issued and fully paid 1,967,183 1,967,183

20. Capital reserve

This includes gains arising on the scheme of reorganisation and amalgamation of subsidiaries within the 
Group in 2008. The reserve is stated net of costs associated with the reorganisation and amalgamation 
and capital distributions.

21. Fair value reserve

In the prior year, this represented the unrealised gain on available-for-sale investments.

22. Retained earnings

This is reflected in the financial statements of:

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

The Company 610,542 961,791

The subsidiaries 481,013 805,261

1,091,555 1,767,052
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23. Long-term payables

The Group The Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Due to IGT US$60,615 
(2016: US$141,435) (a) 7,597 18,122 - -

PayDay prize liability (b) 18,852 19,667 - -

Loans payable (c) 380,934 - 380,934 -

407,383 37,789 380,934 -

Less: Current portion (note 26) (130,512) (11,185) (122,129) -

276,871 26,604 258,805 - 
   

(a) This represents the balance on a loan facility provided by IGT, being the cost of certain VLT 
equipment acquired in the previous year (note 5). The loan is interest-free and repayable in twenty-
four (24) equal monthly instalments of US$6,735. The final payment is due on September 30, 2018.

(b) PayDay prize liability represents the present value of a monthly prize annuity of $150,000 due and 
payable for twenty (20) years, expiring October 25, 2036, funded as disclosed in note 11.  It is stated 
net of an unamortised discount of $15 million (2016: $16 million).

(c) Loans payable represents the balance on two credit facilities from Sagicor Bank Jamaica Limited, 
to support the Group’s acquisition of the Caymanas Track operations (note 4).  The credit facility 
of $150 million matures on March 31, 2018, whilst the credit facility of $500 million matures on 
February 2, 2022. These include a moratorium of 12 months on principal payments, with interest 
accruing at a rate of 9% per annum.  

24. Finance lease obligation

The Company has entered into a finance lease agreement for the lease of Caymanas Park (note 4).  
Obligations under finance lease obtained during the year are as follows:

2017 2016

US$’000 $’000

Value of lease on acquisition 2,328 306,703

Foreign exchange gain - (15,500)

Interest payable 191 24,509

2,519 315,712
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24. Finance lease obligation (continued)

Obligations under finance lease obtained during the year are as follows (continued):

2017

Future minimum lease 
payments Interest

Present value of 
minimum lease 

payment

US$’000 $’000 US$’000 $’000 US$’000 $’000

Due from the reporting   
date as follows:

Within one year -   -       -   -      -    -     

Within two to five years 915 114,673 915 (114,673) -    -

Over five years 7,320    917,385 4,801 (601,673) 2,519 315,712   

Total minimum lease 

payments 8,235 1,032,058 5,716 (716,346) 2,519 315,712

At inception of the arrangement, payments were split into lease payments and payments related to the 
other elements based on their fair values.  The imputed finance costs on the liability were determined 
based on the Group’s incremental borrowing rate of ten percent (10%).  The lease is denominated in 
United States dollars (USD), payable at USD 305,000 per annum on March 7, of each year, with three (3) 
years prepaid (see note 4).

25. Prize liabilities

The Group

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Local lottery games (a) 221,508 193,013

Multi-jurisdictional lottery game (b) 140,958 49,753

Horse-race betting 32,364 -      

Sports betting     5,950          73

400,780 242,839

(a) This represents the prize liabilities associated with the local lottery games operated under licence 
by the subsidiary, Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited, including an amount accrued for the advertised 
jackpot of $37 million (2016: $63 million).

(b) The Super Lotto game is a multi-jurisdictional game with the following countries being a party to 
the Super Lotto agreement entered into by the Company on July 27, 2009: Anguilla, Antigua and 
Barbuda, Barbados, Bermuda, Jamaica, St. Kitts and Nevis, St. Maarten, United States Virgin Islands 
and Paraguay.  Revenue from ticket sales in Jamaica is recorded as income of the Group.  Under the 
rules of the Super Lotto game, and as agreed by BGLC, jackpot contributions are calculated and 
accumulated based on a specified portion of every bet [note 42(d)].
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26. Trade and other payables

The Group The Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade payables 810,834 736,727 -    -      

Service contractor fees (a) 118,343 166,256 -    -      

Contributions payable to CHASE Fund 106,513 90,136 -    -      

Contributions payable to the BGLC 62,401 51,536 -    -      

Contributions payable to the JRC 2,194 -      -    -      

Government taxes payable 67,969 34,040 -    -      

Other payables and accruals [(a),(b)]    447,411    251,405   77,495 116,914

1,615,665 1,330,100 77,495 116,914

Current portion of long-term payables 
(note 23)    130,512      11,185 122,129 -      

1,746,177 1,341,285 199,624 116,914

(a) Included in service contractor fees and other payables and accruals, are amounts due to Intralot 
entities [note 36(b)] totalling $3.4 million (2016: $2.3 million).

(b) Included in other payables and accruals are donations approved by the Board of Directors and 
committed to Supreme Ventures Foundation, a related entity, totalling $68 million.

27. Revenue

The Group The Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash Pot 27,562,926 24,166,763 -      -      

Money Time 5,044,203 4,207,902 -      -      

Pick 2 216,416 212,215 -      -      

Pick 3 2,074,458 1,913,643 -   -      

Pick 4 2,453,163 1,931,488 -      -      

Lucky 5 240,723 222,830 -      -      

Top Draw 634,021 714,850 -      -      

Dollaz! 319,780 261,620 -      -      

Lotto 1,031,580 872,886 -      -      

Super Lotto 716,474 565,599 -      -      

PayDay (January to November 2016) -        108,986 -      -      

Sports betting 738,353 738,631 -      -      

VLT gaming 363,210 339,014 -      -      

Pin codes 9,855,046 8,558,815 -      -      

Horseracing 4,657,891 -       -      -      

Management fees -        -       484,926 395,000

Bookmakers’ rights fee 83,946 -       -      -      

Other      194,443      106,097 -      -      

56,186,633 44,921,339 484,926 395,000
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28. Direct expenses
(a) Analysis of direct expenses is as follows:

The Group The Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Lottery and sports betting prizes 27,723,394 24,528,672 -      -      

Pin codes 9,092,841 7,867,241 -      -      

Horseracing dividends 3,122,207 -       -      -      

Service contractor fees* 2,353,070 2,142,378 -      -      

Agents’ commissions 2,659,608 2,026,193 -      -      

Lottery and gaming taxes 2,698,919 2,308,032 -      -      

Good cause fees 1,476,555 1,289,082 -      -      

Contributions and levies by BGLC 746,841 643,438 -      -      

Horseracing purses fees     565,794 -       -      -      

Horseracing satellite services 54,434 -       -      -      

Contributions and levies by JRC 43,575 -       -      -      

Other        20,873          7,801 -      -      

50,558,111 40,812,837 -      -     
 
*Service contractor fees include irrecoverable GCT of $90,289,000 (2016: $105,685,000).

(b) Lottery and sports betting prizes:

(i) Cash Pot  – All prizes are fixed. The prize won for correctly matching the winning 
number is $260 for each $10 wagered.

(ii) Money Time – Prizes are based on correctly matching the winning number,  
however, the prize paid depends on which winning number is drawn.

(iii) Pick 2, Pick 3 
and Pick 4

– Prizes are computed based on the actual winning combination of 
numbers for each draw.

(iv) Lucky 5 and 
Top Draw

– Prizes for this game are based on the predetermined prize structure.  

(v) Dollaz! – Prizes for this game are fixed based on each $10 per play per spot. 
The prize paid will depend on how many of the winning numbers are 
correctly matched.

(vi) Lotto and 
Super Lotto

– Prizes are accrued as an estimate based on a predetermined prize 
structure for each game.

(vii) Sports betting – All prizes are fixed. The prize won is based on the amount wagered 
multiplied by the odds of the selected event(s) printed on the ticket.

(viii) PayDay – Prizes for this game were fixed at a monthly annuity of $150,000 for 
twenty (20) years.
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28. Direct expenses (continued)

(c) Service contractor fees:

(i) IGT Corporation

IGT Corporation (IGT) has been contracted to provide technical and marketing services for 
lottery activities. IGT receives a service fee calculated using an agreed fee structure based on 
weekly gross sales.

(ii) Intralot

Intralot S.A. (Intralot), through its various affiliates and subsidiaries, provides technical services 
for sports betting activities to the Group. 

29. Operating expenses

The Group The Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Staff costs 1,058,331 689,811 125,292 157,218

Rental and utilities 339,141 237,265 3,427 6,043

Depreciation and amortisation 339,798 235,174 10,545 7,315

Professional fees 227,851 223,813 144,252 177,416

Marketing and business development 188,703 275,324 13,168 5,705

Draw expenses 205,980 200,181 -      -      

Subscription and donations 142,933 172,546 45,341 113,729

Irrecoverable GCT 180,482 141,758 24,651 10,554

Security 110,600 74,215 11,716 15,545

Licences and other fees 77,396 71,729 2,978 792

Local and foreign travel 37,133 31,734 12,364 17,089

Repairs and maintenance 173,960 64,465 52 374

Equipment and motor vehicles 82,642 58,460 1,424 1,616

Bad debts recognised 30,996 52,846 -      -      

Directors’ fees 52,846 48,194 57,477 48,194

Bank charges 47,027 42,400 1,442 1,080

Internal and external audit services 57,820 41,796 33,488 20,781

Administrative 62,948 20,947 6,096 6,711

Insurance 23,159 13,751 1,366 1,010

Assets written off and impairment 165,809 6,179 142     -      

Others      15,080        7,180     1,365     2,144

3,620,635 2,709,768 496,586 593,316
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30. Net foreign exchange gains/(losses)

The Group The Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Foreign exchange gains 15,008 14,656 -  -  

Foreign exchange losses (14,380) (  2,668) (1,364) (265)

      628 11,988 (1,364) (265)

31. Finance costs

The Group The Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Interest on bank loans 29,843   - 29,843 -

Interest on obligations under finance lease 24,509 - - -

Loan processing fees 6,538 - 6,538 -

Insurance premium financing 601 323 - -

61,491 323 36,381 -

32. Other gains

The Group The Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Reversal of impairment loss on investment
   properties (note 6) - 102,729 - -

IGT reimbursements 117,077 82,211 - -

Other 7,678 - 3,742 -

124,755 184,940 3,742 -

33. Profit before taxation

(a) Profit before taxation is stated after taking account of the following items:

The Group The Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Expenses

Directors’ emoluments:

Fees 52,846 48,194 52,486 48,194

Management remuneration 116,496 76,091 116,496 76,091

Audit fees 35,480 26,310 12,700 11,600

Pension contributions 20,055 14,282        504 480
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33. Profit before taxation (continued)

(a) Taxes, licences and other fees (excluding corporate income tax) paid to statutory and regulatory 
bodies in arriving at profit before taxation are as follows:

The Group

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Lottery and gaming taxes 2,698,919 2,308,032

Good cause fees 1,476,555 1,289,082

Contributions and levies by the BGLC 746,841 643,438

Contributions and levies by the JRC 43,575 -       

Irrecoverable GCT 270,771 247,443

Licences and other fees 77,396 71,729

Payroll taxes – Employer’s portion      85,722      54,558

5,399,779 4,614,282

34. Taxation

(a) Taxation for the year includes:

The Group The Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current taxation:

Income tax 742,531 461,067 (1,186) 1,185

Employment tax credit (13,829) (1,378) -      -      

Prior year (over)/under-provision (32,254) 3,298 -      -      

696,448 462,987 (1,186)     1,185

Deferred taxation (note 12):

Origination and reversal of 
temporary differences 2,905 4,900 (3,293) 1,182

Tax losses (51,640) 15,537 -      -      

(48,735) 20,437 (3,293)     1,182

Taxation charge 647,713 483,424 (4,479)     2,367
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34. Taxation (continued)

(b) The effective tax rate is 35.11% (2016: 29.09%) of pre-tax profit for the Group and 0.30% (2016: 
0.28%) for the Company, compared to the statutory tax rate of 25% (2016: 25%).

The Group The Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Profit before taxation 1,844,667 1,661,892 1,516,723 849,783

Tax at the domestic income   
tax rate of:

25% 461,167 415,473 379,180 212,446

Expenses disallowed for tax 
purposes 153,952 56,674 13,340 39,285

Tax effect on private motor   
vehicles -       (       3,641) -       (    3,641)

Employment tax credit (     13,829) (       1,378) -       -      

Non-taxable income -       -       (  379,250) (250,000)

Prior year (over)/under-
provision (       7,025) 3,298 -       -      

Prior period deferred tax  
recognised in the current 
year (     25,229) -       (    16,831) -      

Net other credits and 
allowances 11,814 12,990 (         918) 4,277

Tax losses not recognised      66,863               8 -       -      

   647,713    483,424 (      4,479)     2,367

(c) Tax losses of the Group amounting to $239 million (2016: $286 million) subject to agreement with the 
Commissioner General, Tax Administration Jamaica, are available for set-off against future taxable 
profits of the subsidiaries.  Unutilised tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely and can be used 
to offset up to 50% of each year’s taxable profits.

(d) A deferred tax asset of $67 million in Supreme Ventures Racing & Entertainment Limited has not 
been recognised, as directors and management consider that the entity is in its start-up phase and 
the strategies initiated to utilise the deferred tax asset are still in progress.
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35. Earnings per stock unit

Earnings per stock unit is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to stockholders, by the 
weighted average number of ordinary stock units in issue during the year.

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Profit attributable to stockholders 1,196,954 1,178,468

Weighted average number of ordinary stock units in issue (’000) 2,637,255 2,637,255

2017 2016

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share 45.39 44.69

36. Related party balances and transactions

(a) Identity of related parties

The Company has a related party relationship with its directors, subsidiaries, companies with 
common directors, and a jointly controlled entity. “Key management personnel” represents directors 
of the Company and certain members of the Group’s executive management.

(b) Trading transactions with related parties

Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited is provided with technical services by an entity considered to be 
related until October 2017 (2016: Entire period), Intralot S.A., its affiliates and subsidiaries.  Intralot 
receives a fee based on agreed percentages of net revenues for its other services [note 28(c)(ii)].

The fees for services rendered during period considered related are as follows:

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Sports betting activities 22,451 45,430

The balance at the end of the year was $3.4 million (2016: $2.3 million) [note 26(a)].

(c) Balances with subsidiaries

Notes 9, 14, 17 and 26 to the financial statements include required disclosures in respect of balances 
with subsidiaries and related parties.
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36. Related party balances and transactions (continued)

(d) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of members of key management during the year was as follows:

The Group The Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Short-term benefits 271,412 233,397 116,496 120,351

Post-employment benefits     4,397     2,364 -      -      

275,809 235,761 116,496 120,351

(e) Professional fees paid to directors for services rendered during the year aggregated $79.49 million 
(2016: $97.13 million) for the Group and the Company.

(f) Provisions or write-offs

No provisions or write-offs have been recognised for amounts advanced to key management or 
related parties.

37. Segment reporting

2017

Lottery
Horse 
Racing

Gaming 
and 

hospitality
Sports 
betting Pin codes Unallocated Group

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

External revenue 40,374,489 4,834,242 378,324 738,555 9,855,046 13,403 56,194,059

Inter-segment revenue -        (     7,426) -     -     -       -       (7,426)

Total revenue 40,374,489 4,826,816 378,324 738,555 9,855,046 13,403 56,186,633

Result

Segment result 2,485,661 ( 355,580) 19,064 (36,179) 137,598 (242,677) 2,007,887

Interest income 90,995

Net foreign exchange loss 628

Impairment losses on   intangible 
assets ( 318,107)

Finance costs (   61,491)

Other gains and losses      124,755

Profit before taxation 1,844,667

Taxation ( 647,713)

Profit for the year   1,196,954

Other information

Capital expenditure        95,325    673,644     9,353        128 -            55,138      833,588

Depreciation, amortisation and 
write-offs 50,354      67,060   66,494   19,293 -          302,406    505,607

Segment assets   2,513,280    828,891 205,440   80,184 1,034,506 1,512,859   6,175,160

Segment liabilities   1,279,923    894,603   28,372   22,058    754,545      74,435   3,053,936
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37. Segment reporting (continued)

2017

Lottery

Gaming 
and 

hospitality
Sports 
betting Pin codes Other Unallocated Group

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

External revenue, being 

   total revenue 35,178,782 347,275 738,631 8,558,815 83,087 14,749 44,921,339

Result

Segment result 1,503,806 (  29,563) (172,439) 104,998 83,087 (91,155) 1,398,734

Interest income 66,553

Net foreign exchange gains 11,988

Finance costs (323)

Other gains 184,940

Profit before taxation 1,661,892

Taxation (483,424)

Profit for the year 1,178,468

Other information

Capital expenditure 78,355 54,605 11,852 - - 38,474 183,286

Depreciation, amortisation 
 and write-offs 42,124 74,666 18,92 - - 105,634 241,353

Segment assets 1,778,985 676,153 237,099 728,784 - 2,012,329 5,433,350

Segment liabilities 761,206 25,640 13,710 704,493 - 128,100 1,633,149

38. Operating lease arrangements

(a) As lessor (note 6)

At December 31, the future minimum lease receivables are as follows:

The Group

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Within 1 year 185 149

Between one and five years 778 748

More than five years 1,627 1,793

2,590 2,690

During the year, minimum lease income of US$ 179,902 (2016: US$117,854) was recognised.
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38. Operating lease arrangements (continued)

(b) As lessee

The Group has entered into agreements for the lease of office spaces and apartments. The annual 
rentals are payable in monthly instalments.

Minimum operating lease rental commitments are as follows:

The Group

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Within 1 year 47,312 38,391

Years 2 - 5 83,534 70,578

Over 5 years        -       16,613

130,846 125,582

Amounts recognised in the Group Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income:

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Lease expense 122,897 122,859

Sub-lease income (  20,768) (  23,020)

102,129   99,839

39. Distributions

(a) Paid 

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Final dividend for 2015 paid March 21, 2016 - 10¢ -      263,725

First interim dividend paid June 3, 2016 - 9¢ -      237,353

Second interim dividend paid September 2, 2016 - 13¢ -      342,843  

Third interim dividend paid December 2, 2016 - 5¢ -      131,863

Final dividend for 2016 paid March 27, 2017 - 9¢ 237,353 -      

First interim dividend paid May 31, 2017 - 14¢ 369,216 -      

Second interim dividend paid September 8, 2017 - 16¢ 421,961 -      

Third interim dividend paid December 4, 2017 - 14¢ 369,216 -      

Special dividend paid December 4, 2017 - 18¢    474,705 -      

1,872,451 975,784
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39. Distributions (continued)

(b) Proposed

At a meeting of the Board of Directors, held on February 22, 2018, the Board resolved to pay a final 
dividend in respect of 2017 of 12¢ per share amounting to $316.47 million and a special dividend of 
8¢ per share amounting to $210.98 million. Stockholders’ equity for the current financial year does 
not reflect this resolution, which will be accounted for as an appropriation of retained profits in the 
financial year in which it is declared.

40. Financial risk management

Financial risk management objectives

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk, liquidity 
risk and market risk including interest rate risk, currency risk and price risk. Information about the Group’s 
exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and 
managing risk is detailed below. 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis, 
evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk 
is core to the business and the operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. 
The Group’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise 
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate 
risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-
to-date information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to 
reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practices.

A risk management approach is adopted which involves employees at all levels. This framework is 
supported by sound risk management practices which include the establishment of enterprise-wide 
policies, procedures and limits, monitoring and measurement of exposure against established limits, 
ongoing realignment of business strategies and activities and the reporting of significant exposures to 
senior management and the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk 
management framework. The Board’s risk management mandate is principally carried out through the 
Audit Committee.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has oversight for the integrity of the financial statements and reviews the adequacy 
and effectiveness of internal controls and risk management procedures. The Committee also ensures 
compliance with internal, legal and regulatory policies, identifying, monitoring, measuring and reporting 
significant risk exposure and making recommendations in relation to management of risk.

119People | Pursuits | Performance Supreme Ventures Limited Annual Report 2017



SUPREME VENTURES LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
December 31, 2017

40. Financial risk management (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

This Board Committee also has direct responsibility for the management of financial instrument risk 
which includes credit, liquidity and market risks.

(a) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that its customers or counterparties may default 
and could cause a financial loss for the Group by failure to discharge their contractual obligations. 
This arises principally from cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other investment and 
long-term receivables. Credit risk is an important risk for the Group’s business and management 
therefore carefully monitors its exposure to credit risk.

The Group controls credit exposure by maintaining a strict collection process. Lottery sale agents 
are required to remit cash collections weekly which are monitored on a weekly basis by identification 
and transfer to designated bank accounts. A process of suppression of agent activity is triggered 
for non-compliance.

(i) Credit review process

The Group’s credit risk is managed through a framework which incorporates the following:

Cash and cash equivalents 

The Group maintains cash resources with reputable financial institutions. The credit risk is 
considered to be low. 

Trade and long-term receivables

The Group establishes policies and procedures which govern standards for granting credit and 
the process of continuous monitoring and measurement in relation to credit quality through 
industry delinquency and debt recovery management.

Trade receivables are monitored and managed by the Finance Department in collaboration with 
the Field Area Management team, which has responsibility for liaising with the sales agents.

(ii) Impairment

The Finance Department conducts monthly and quarterly assessments of the trade receivable 
balances to determine whether there is a requirement for any allowances for doubtful debts.

There has been no material change in the Group’s exposure to credit risk or the manner in which it 
measures and manages risk.
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40. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with 
its financial liabilities when they fall due.  Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining 
sufficient cash and marketable securities.

There has been no material change in the Group’s exposure to liquidity risk or the manner in which 
it measures and manages liquidity risk.

(i) Management of liquidity risk

The Board of Directors approves the Group’s liquidity and funding management policies and 
establishes risk limits.

The Group’s Finance Department has direct responsibility for the management of the day-
to-day liquidity.  The Board’s Finance and Audit Committees provide added oversight over 
the Group’s liquidity risk exposure, within the policy and limits frameworks established by the 
Board.

The management of liquidity risk is carried out through various methods which include:

 - Day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements 
can be met;

 - Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection 
against any unforeseen interruption to cash flow within the local and international markets;

 - Monitoring statement of financial position liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory 
requirements; and

 - Maintenance of liquidity and funding contingency plans.

An analysis of the undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s financial liabilities on the basis of 
their earliest possible contractual maturity is presented below. The analysis provided is by 
estimating timing of the amounts recognised in the statement of financial position. The Group 
does not expect that its customers will demand the payment of funds at the earliest date 
possible. 
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40. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

The Group

2017

Within 3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year

1 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years Total

Carrying 
value

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Prize liabilities     400,780 -      -        -     400,780 400,780

Trade and other payables 1,615,665 -      -        -     1,615,665 1,615,665

Long-term payables 81,759 47,062 358,371 14,767 501,959 407,383

Finance lease obligation        -              -         152,897 879,160 1,032,057    315,712

2,098,204   47,062    511,268 893,927 3,550,461 2,739,540

The Group

2016

Within 3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year

1 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years Total

Carrying 
value

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Prize liabilities 242,839 - - - 242,839 242,839

Trade and other payables 1,330,100 - - - 1,330,100 1,330,100

Long-term payables        3,046 9,138 14,988 10,667 37,839 37,839

1,575,985 9,138 14,988 10,667 1,610,778 1,610,778

The Company

2017

Within 3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year

1 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years Total

Carrying 
value

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Prize liabilities 77,495 - - - 77,495 77,495

Trade and other payables 2,803 - - - 2,803 2,803

Long-term payables 81,630 46,405 355,857 - 483,892 380,934

161,928 46,405 355,857 - 564,190 461,232

The Company

2016

Within 3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year

1 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years Total

Carrying 
value

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade and other payables 116,914 - - - 116,914 116,914

Due to related parties 150,000 - - - 150,000 150,000

266,914     9,138 - - 266,914 266,914
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40. Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The objective 
of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimising the return on risk. 

The Board and management have responsibility for the monitoring of market risk exposures by way 
of measurements through sensitivity analysis. Market information and additional analysis are also 
used to manage risk exposure and mitigate the limitation of sensitivity analysis.

There has been no material change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which 
it manages and measures risk.

(i) Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of transactions that are denominated 
in a currency other than the Jamaica dollar. The main currency giving rise to the exposure in the 
current year was the United States dollar. 

Foreign currency risk management

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by ensuring that the net exposure in foreign 
currency denominated assets and liabilities is kept to an acceptable level by monitoring 
currency positions. 

The following table summarises the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk:

The Group

2017 2016

USD USD

‘000 ‘000

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 2,545 1,357

Trade and other receivables      -      323

2,545 1,680

Liabilities

Trade and other payables (   374) (   141)

Long-term payables (     61) (   141)

(   435) (   282)

Net exposure 2,110 1,398 
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40. Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Market risk (continued)

(i) Foreign currency risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Company

2017 2016

USD USD

‘000 ‘000

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 126 68

Liabilities

Trade and other payables (141) (135)

Net exposure (  15) (  67)

The Group: 

The Group’s sensitivity to a 2% revaluation or 4% devaluation (2016: 1% revaluation or 6% 
devaluation) of the Jamaica dollar against the US dollar is demonstrated below and represents 
management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity 
analysis includes only outstanding foreign-currency-denominated monetary items and adjusts 
the translation at period end for a 2% increase or 4% decrease (2016: 1% increase or 6% 
decrease) in the foreign exchange rates.

The increase or decrease in the relative value of the Jamaica dollar on the foreign currency 
exposure would have an effect on profit/loss as reflected below:

The Group: 

2017 2016

Devaluation Revaluation Devaluation Revaluation

4% 2% 6% 1%

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

US dollar 10,466 5,233 10,695 1,782
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40. Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Market risk (continued)
 

(i) Foreign currency risk (continued)
 

The Company:

2017 2016

Devaluation Revaluation Devaluation Revaluation

4% 2% 6% 1%

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

US dollar (82) (41) (4) 1

(ii) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes 
in interest rates. The Group is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of 
market interest rates on its financial position and cash flows. Mismatch of positions between 
assets and liabilities in periods of rising or declining interest rates may also result in loss of 
earnings.  Management sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate re-pricing that may 
be undertaken.  This is monitored on a periodic basis.

Management of interest rate risk

Interest rate risk exposure is measured using sensitivity analysis.  Interest rate risk is managed 
by utilising derivative instruments where necessary and maintaining an appropriate mix of 
variable and fixed rate instruments.

The Group The Company

Carrying value Carrying value

2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Fixed rate instruments:

Financial assets -        542,142 -      523,335

Financial liabilities 1,515,951 -      636,790 -      

Variable rate:

Financial assets    696,646 851,439 171,117   24,493

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

Interest rate sensitivity has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for the 
Group’s long-term loan receivable and short-term deposits at the end of the reporting period 
as these are substantially the interest sensitive instruments impacting the Group’s financial 
results.  For floating rate assets, the analysis assumes the amount of asset outstanding at the 
statement of financial position date was outstanding for the whole period.  A 100 basis point 
increase or 100 basis point decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key 
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonable possible 
change in interest rates. 
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40. Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued)

If market interest rates had been 100 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were 
held constant, the effect on the Group’s profit would have been as follows:

The Group The Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Effect of increase of 100 basis points 
(2016: 100 basis points) on profit 17,897 8,514 1,711 245

Effect of decrease of 100 basis   
points (2016: 100 basis points) on 
profit (17,897) (8,514) (1,711) (245)

(iii) Equity risk

Equity risks arise out of price fluctuation in equity prices. This risk arises out of holding positions 
in either individual stocks (non-systemic risk) or in the market as a whole (systemic risk). The 
goal is to earn dividend income and realise capital gains sufficient to offset the interest foregone 
in holding such long-term positions.

Management of equity risk

Management sets limits on the level of exposure, and diversification is a key strategy employed 
to reduce the impact on the portfolio, which may result from the non-performance of a specific 
class of assets.  Given the potential volatility in the value of equities and the non-interest bearing 
characteristics of these instruments, limits are set by the Board of Directors on amounts to be 
invested in them.

Equity price sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price 
risks at the reporting date:

The quoted investment was disposed during the year. For the previous year, if equity prices had 
been 10% higher/lower, profit for the year ended December 31, 2016, would have increased/
decreased by $0.696 million for the Group and the Company.

(d) Capital management

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to the stockholders of the parent 
company comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings.
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40. Financial risk management (continued)

(e) Capital management (continued)

The Board’s objectives when managing the Group’s capital structure, which is a broader concept 
than the ‘equity’ on the face of the statement of financial position, are:

(i) To comply with the capital and cash reserve requirements set by the Regulators;
(ii) To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to 

provide returns for stockholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and
(iii) To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business in accordance 

with licensing requirements.

There were no material changes to the Board’s approach to capital management during the year.

41. Fair values

The following methods and assumptions have been used:

(i) The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivable, other investment and trade 
and other payable are assumed to approximate their carrying values due to their relatively short-
term nature. 

(ii) The carrying value of long-term receivables, contingent consideration payable, long-term payables 
and prize liabilities approximate their fair values as they are carried at amortised cost and the interest 
rates are reflective of current market rates for similar transactions. 

(iii) Quoted shares classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value by reference to quoted 
market prices. Unquoted shares are stated at cost less impairment adjustments.  The fair value of 
quoted shares is as disclosed in note 10.

42. Contingencies and commitments

(a) Contingencies – litigations

Epsilon Global Equities:

On December 15, 2008, a civil suit was filed by Epsilon Global Equities Limited (Epsilon) naming 
as defendants the Company and its founding stockholders. The matter was decided in 2011, with 
a judgment in favour of the stockholders and the Company. Epsilon appealed the judgment. The 
Judgment in the appeal was delivered on May 30, 2017 and the Company was successful.  Epsilon 
has since indicated that it proposes to appeal to the Privy Council in the United Kingdom (which 
is our highest appellate body) in an effort to reverse the Court of Appeal’s decision and to that end 
it has filed an application in the Court of Appeal seeking conditional leave to appeal to the Privy 
Council. The application has not yet been heard. It is our advice that the Company will succeed in 
the appeal to the Privy Council, if the appeal is pursued.
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(a) Contingencies – litigations (continued)

Talisman Capital Alternative Investment Fund and EGE Limited:

In August 2012, a civil suit was filed in the Courts of Florida, USA, by Talisman Capital Alternative 
Investment Fund and EGE Limited citing as defendants the Company and certain of its stockholders. 
This suit is in respect of most of the same issues decided in the Supreme Court in Jamaica in favour 
of the Company and some of its stockholders (see above).

In April 2013, the Federal Bankruptcy Court in Florida granted a motion by SVL and other defendants 
to dismiss the complaint. The plaintiffs then filed objections to the dismissal. Subsequently, the 
court granted a motion by SVL and other defendants to strike out the objections. The plaintiffs then 
moved for reconsideration of the order. The motions were heard and SVL and other defendants were 
successful on the motions and were either discharged from the proceedings or the plaintiffs were 
ordered to re-file the proceedings.  The Plaintiffs have appealed the Order.  The appeal has been 
heard and the decision is pending.

The attorneys representing SVL expect SVL’s position to be upheld by the Appeal Court.

(b) Contingencies - Guarantees

Pursuant to the Articles of Incorporation of the Company and a resolution of the directors, the 
Company has issued a duly executed and stamped deed of debenture and a duly executed 
guarantee to the Betting, Gaming and Lotteries Commission (BGLC). The Company and the BGLC 
have agreed that the secured debenture and the guarantee constitute compliance by the subsidiary, 
Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited (PSJL), with the requirements of the licence granted by BGLC that 
the equity capitalisation of PSJL be not less than $500 million, and PSJL will accordingly be treated 
as having $500 million of stockholders’ equity for the purpose of the condition of the BGLC licence 
that refers to stockholders’ equity. Accordingly, BGLC will hold the Company responsible and liable 
for any breaches of the licence by its subsidiary, PSJL.

(c) Contingencies - Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited

In accordance with the requirements of the Betting, Gaming and Lotteries Act granting a Bookmaker’s 
permit to Prime Sports (Jamaica) Limited (PSJL), a performance bond guarantee arrangement was 
executed with The Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica Limited (BNS) for an amount of $10 million. Under 
the said performance bond covering the period June 26, 2015 to June 25, 2018, BNS would pay 
on demand any sums which may from time to time be demanded by the BGLC up to a maximum 
aggregate sum of $10 million. The bank guarantee is secured by a hypothecated term deposit in the 
amount of $10 million [note 18(b)].
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42. Contingencies and commitments (continued)

(d) Contingencies - Super Lotto Jackpot Liability

As required under Condition 7 attached to the approval granted by the BGLC to promote the multi-
jurisdictional game, ‘Super Lotto’, the Company, as the applicant, has made arrangements for 
a stand-by financing facility of $600 million from BNS. Under the said stand-by facility, which is 
renewable annually, BGLC has been identified as the beneficiary in order to ensure that a Super 
Lotto jackpot winner in Jamaica is settled with the prize money and also to ensure that the necessary 
taxes on such a prize payment are settled with the revenue authorities in Jamaica.

(e) Contingencies – Supreme Ventures Racing & Entertainment Limited

The company has indicated its intention to provide financial support to its subsidiary, Supreme 
Ventures Racing & Entertainment Limited, as required, to enable it to meet its obligations as and 
when they fall due, for the foreseeable future.

(f) Commitment - Licence fees to the Betting, Gaming and Lotteries Commission (BGLC)

In accordance with conditions attached to the lottery, sports betting and VLT licences granted by 
the BGLC, annual licence fees aggregating $45.7 million (2016: $45.8 million) fall due for payment 
each year.

(g) Capital commitments

The Group

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

Machinery and equipment - 78,225

Leasehold improvements 10,107 -   

Furniture, fixtures, machinery and equipment 9,543 -    

Computer equipment 3,209 -    

Computer software 1,237 -    

Work-in-progress      774 -    

24,870 78,225

(h) Sponsorship commitments

Commitments pursuant to sponsorship agreements entered into by the Group [see also note 26(b)] 
are as follows:

2017 2016

$’000 $’000

2017 -     56,400   

2018 42,000 -      

42,000 56,400
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43. Significant accounting policies

Certain amended standards came into effect during the current financial year.  The Group has assessed 
them and has adopted those which are relevant to its financial statements:

• Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, effective for accounting periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2017, requires an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial 
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes 
arising from cash flows and non-cash flows.

• Amendments to IAS 12, Income Taxes, effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2017, clarifies the following:

 - The existence of a deductible temporary difference depends solely on a comparison of the 
carrying amount of an asset and its tax base at the end of the reporting period, and is not 
affected by possible future changes in the carrying amount or expected manner of recovery of 
the asset.

 - A deferred tax asset can be recognised if the future bottom line of the tax return is expected to 
be a loss, if certain conditions are met.

 - Future taxable profits used to establish whether a deferred tax can be recognised should be the 
amount calculated before the effect of reversing temporary differences.

 - An entity can assume that it will recover an asset for more than its carrying amount if there is 
sufficient evidence that it is probable that the entity will achieve this.

 - Deductible temporary differences related to unrealised losses should be assessed on a 
combined basis for recognition unless a tax law restricts the use of losses to deductions against 
income of a specific type.

The adoption of these amendments did not result in any change to the amounts recognised, presented 
and disclosed in the financial statements.

The Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in these 
consolidated financial statements.
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43. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Set out below is an index of the significant accounting policies, the details of which are available on the 
pages that follow.

Page

(a) Basis of consolidation 132

(b) Segment reporting 132

(c) Business combinations  133

(d) Property and equipment  133

(e) Investment properties  134

(f) Goodwill and intangible assets  134

(g) Assets held for sale  135

(h) Impairment of non-financial assets  136

(i) Financial instruments  136

(j) Fair value measurement  139

(k) Taxation  140

(l) Inventories  140

(m) Revenue  141

(n) Employee benefit costs  142

(o) Finance costs  142

(p) Leases  142

(q) Related parties  143

(r) Foreign currencies  144

(s) Share capital 144

(t) Dividends 144
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43. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities and results of operations of the 
Company and its subsidiaries presented as a single economic entity.  

Subsidiaries are those entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee entity. The financial statements of 
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control 
commences until the date on which control ceases.

The company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as “Group”.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies 
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of 
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries are consistent with those 
of the Group.

(b) Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it 
may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions 
with any of the Group’s other components. An operating segment’s results are reviewed regularly to 
make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and 
for which discrete financial information is available.  

Segment results are reported to the Group’s executive management (collectively considered the 
chief operating decision maker) which includes items directly attributable to a segment as well as 
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. 

All transactions between business segments are conducted on an arm’s length basis, with 
intersegment revenue and cost eliminated on consolidation.  Income and expenses directly 
associated with each segment are included in determining business segment performance.

No geographical segment reporting is recognised as the Group’s operations are located solely in 
Jamaica.

The Group’s reportable segments under IFRS 8 are as follows:

(i) Lottery - Lottery games offered through the agents’ network.

(ii) Gaming and hospitality - Video Lottery Terminal (VLT) games offered at gaming lounges 
and food and beverage operations.

(iii) Sports betting - Wagers on international sporting events offered through the 
agents’ network.

(iv) Horse racing - Local races and simulcast sales.

(v) Pin codes - Sale of pin codes through the agents’ network.

(vi) Other - All other income.
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(c) Business combinations

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations.  The cost of 
acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities 
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured at their fair values at the 
acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest. The excess of the cost of 
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded 
as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary 
acquired, the difference is recognised as bargain purchase gain directly in profit or loss.
  
The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 
relationships. Such amounts generally are recognised in profit or loss.  Deferred consideration is 
recognised and measured at fair value at the date of acquisition and is included in the consideration 
transferred. The unwinding of any interest element of deferred consideration is recognised in profit 
or loss.  Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the 
Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

(d) Property and equipment

(i) Owned assets

Freehold land, art and paintings are measured at historical cost. All other property and equipment 
are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses [note 43(h)]. Cost 
includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.

The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, plus related 
borrowing costs and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working 
condition for its intended use.

The cost of replacing part of an item of property and equipment is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied with the part will 
flow to the Group and its costs can be measured reliably. The costs of day-to-day servicing of 
property and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(ii) Leased assets

Leases, under the terms of which the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership are classified as finance leases. Leasehold land acquired under finance leasing 
arrangements are stated at an amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the present 
value of the minimum lease payments at inception of the lease and are not depreciated.  Other 
leased assets under finance leasing arrangements are stated at an amount equal to the lower of 
their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, 
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. All other leases are classified as 
operating lease.
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(d) Property and equipment (continued)

(iii) Depreciation

Property and equipment, with the exception of freehold land, art and paintings on which no 
depreciation is provided, are depreciated on the straight-line basis at annual rates estimated to 
write down the assets to their residual values over their expected useful lives. 

The useful lives are as follows:

Freehold buildings 20-40 years

Video lottery terminal equipment 5-10 years

Furniture, fixtures machinery & equipment 3-10 years

Computer equipment 3-5 years 

Motor vehicles 5-8 years 

Signs & posters 5-10 years 

Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term and useful life

The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting 
date.

(e) Investment properties

Investment properties, comprising freehold land and buildings, are held for long-term rental yields, 
are not occupied by the Group and are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses.  Land is not depreciated.  Freehold buildings are depreciated on the straight line basis over 
their expected useful lives of 20 years.  

(f) Goodwill and intangible assets 

(i) Goodwill

Goodwill represents amounts arising on acquisition of subsidiaries and other business ventures. 
It comprises the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the net identifiable 
assets acquired.

Goodwill is stated at cost, less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated 
to cash-generating units and is tested annually for impairment. Negative goodwill arising on 
acquisition is recognised directly in profit or loss.

(ii) Trademarks and licences

Trademarks, licences and permits with finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.  Amortisation methods, useful lives and 
residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate, with the effect 
of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.  Amortisation is charged 
on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives. Useful lives are currently estimated 
as follows.

Licenses and permits 5 years

Trademarks 10 years
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(f) Goodwill and intangible assets (continued)

(ii) Trademarks and licences (continued)

Trademarks, licences and permits with indefinite useful lives are measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.  The useful lives of such assets are reviewed at each reporting 
date to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful 
life assessment for those assets.  If they do not, the change in the useful life assessment from 
indefinite to finite is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.

(iii) Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.  Amortisation is charged on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful 
life.  Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date 
and adjusted if appropriate, with the effect of any changes in the estimate being accounted for 
on a prospective basis.  

The amortisation rates are as follows:

Computer software 3 years

Software usage rights 10 years

(iv) Derecognition of goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill and intangible assets are derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from use or disposal.  Gains or losses arising from the derecognition of 
goodwill and intangible assets, measured as the difference between the net proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. 

(g) Assets held for sale

Non-current assets, comprising assets and liabilities, that are expected to be recovered primarily 
through sale, rather than continuing use, are classified as held for sale. Assets held for sale are 
measured at the lower of their carrying value and fair values less cost to sell.

Impairment losses on initial reclassification as held for sale and subsequent gains and losses on 
re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss. Once classified as held for sale, property and 
equipment are no longer depreciated.
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(h) Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication 
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill, the recoverable amount is 
estimated at each reporting date. 

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating 
unit exceeds its recoverable amount.  Impairment losses in respect of cash-generating units are 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to cash-generating units and 
then to reduce the carrying amount of other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis. Impairment losses 
are recognised in profit or loss.

(i) Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of non-financial assets is the greater of their fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not 
generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

(ii) Reversals of impairment
 
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.   In respect of other assets, 
an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(i) Financial instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

(i) Classification of financial instruments

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: loans and 

receivables and available-for-sale.  Management determines the appropriate classification of 
investments at the time of purchase.

The Group classifies financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category.
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(i) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Recognition and derecognition

The Group recognises a financial instrument when it becomes a party to the contractual terms 
of the instrument.  

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and equity securities on the date when 
they are originated.  All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised on 
the trade date.  

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in 
which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, 
or it neither transfers nor retains all or substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and 
does not retain control over the transferred asset.  Any interest in such derecognised financial 
assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.  

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations expire or are 
discharged or cancelled.

(iii) Measurement

Cash and cash equivalents:  Cash comprises cash in hand and demand and call deposits.  Cash 
equivalents are short-term, highly liquid financial assets that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and are held for the 
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.  
These include certificates of deposit where the maturities do not exceed three months from the 
date of acquisition.  Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost.

Loans and receivables: Securities acquired and loans granted with fixed or determinable 
payments, and which are not quoted in an active market, are classified as loans and receivables.

Securities purchased under resale agreements (‘resale agreements’): Resale agreements 
are short-term transactions in which the Group makes funds available to other parties and 
in turn receive securities which they agree to resell on a specified date at a specified price.  
Resale agreements are accounted for as short-term collateralised lending, and carried at 
amortised cost.  The difference between the purchase and resale consideration is recognised 
on the accrual basis over the period of the contract using the effective interest method and 
is included in interest income.  On initial recognition they are measured at fair value, plus any 
directly attributable transaction costs.   Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less impairment losses. 

Trade and other receivables and Due from subsidiaries are measured at amortised cost less 
impairment losses.
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(i) Financial instruments (continued)

(iii) Measurement (continued)

Available-for-sale: On initial recognition, available-for-sale investments are measured at fair 
value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, they 
are measured at fair value, with unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value, 
except for impairment losses, and, in the case of equity securities, foreign exchange gains and 
losses, being recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in fair value reserve.  
When these assets are derecognised, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is reclassified to 
profit or loss.  

Other financial liabilities:  Long-term liabilities are recognised initially at fair value less attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, long-term liabilities are measured at 
amortised cost using effective interest method.

Prize liabilities, Trade and other payables, and Due to subsidiaries are measured at amortised 
cost.

Lottery and sports betting prizes:  All prizes are recorded at the actual amount except for the 
annuity-funded prize, which is paid out on a deferred basis.  The actual prize expense for this 
type of prize is based on the present value of an annuity using the interest yield on the investment 
acquired to fund the annuity.

(iv) Impairment of financial assets

A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more 
events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the 
difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the original interest rate.  Receivables with a short duration are not discounted. 

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The 
remaining financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk 
characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the 
reversal is recognised in profit or loss.
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(j) Fair value measurement

‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its 
absence, the most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value 
of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the fair value of an instrument is measured by using the quoted price in an active 
market for that instrument.  A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability 
take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, valuation techniques are used that maximise the use 
of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation 
technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing 
a transaction.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the 
transaction price - i.e., the fair value of the consideration given or received. If it is determined that 
the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced 
neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation 
technique that uses only data from observable markets, then the financial instrument is initially 
measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value at initial recognition 
and the transaction price. 

Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of 
the instrument but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data 
or the transaction is closed out. 

Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in 
the valuation techniques as follows:

• Level 1 – Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for identical assets or liabilities.

• Level 2 – Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e., as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted 
market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar 
instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques 
where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

• Level 3 – Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes 
all instruments where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data 
and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This 
category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments 
where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences 
between the instruments.
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(j) Fair value measurement (continued)

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognised at the end of the reporting period 
during which the change has occurred. 

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison 
to similar instruments for which market observable prices exist and other valuation models. 
Assumptions and inputs used in valuation techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest 
rates, credit spreads, and other premiums used in estimating discount rates.

Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to arrive at estimates of fair values. 
Consequently, the estimates arrived at may be significantly different from the actual price of the 
instrument in an arm’s length transaction.

(k) Taxation

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax.  Income tax is 
recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other 
comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Current income tax is the expected tax payable on the income for the year, using tax rates enacted 
at the reporting date, and any adjustment to income tax in respect of previous years. 

Deferred income tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences 
when they reverse, based on laws that have been enacted at the reporting date. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 
will be available against which the asset can be realised.  Future taxable profits are determined 
based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences.  If the amount of taxable temporary 
differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted 
for reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the business plans for the 
subsidiaries in the Group.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions 
are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves. 

(l) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Costs are assigned to 
inventories by the method most appropriate to the particular class of inventory, with the majority 
being valued on a first-in, first-out basis (FIFO).  Net realisable value represents the estimated selling 
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
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(m) Revenue

(i) Lottery

Ticket sales - lottery games are sold to players by contracted retail agents.  Revenue is 
recognised when tickets are sold.

Unclaimed prizes – in keeping with clause number 28 of the lottery licence held by Prime Sports 
(Jamaica) Limited, winning tickets must be redeemed within 90 days of the relevant draw unless 
otherwise notified.  Any valid winning ticket presented after expiration of this period may be 
paid provided payment is made within 180 days of the draw, after which prizes may be paid 
only with written approval of the BGLC.  Fifty percent (50%) of unclaimed prizes (net of taxes 
where applicable) is paid over to the CHASE Fund and the remaining fifty percent (50%) paid 
to the BGLC. 

(ii) VLT gaming 

Revenue is recognised as the net win from gaming activities, which is the difference between 
gaming wins and losses before deducting costs and expenses at the end of each gaming day.

(iii) Sports betting

Revenue represents the gross sales of the bets taken on international sporting events at all 
branches and agents, net of refunds. Revenue is recognised when wagers are placed by 
players evidenced by ticket sales. 

(iv) Pin codes 

Pin codes are sold to the public by contracted retail agents. Revenue is recognised when pin 
codes are sold. 

(v) Hospitality and related services

Hospitality and related services include food and beverage sales and are recognised when the 
goods/services are provided.

(vi) Management fees 

The Company provides management services to its subsidiaries.  Fees are recognised when 
services are provided.

(vii) Interest income

Interest income is accrued by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest 
rate applicable, which is the expected rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.
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(m) Revenue (continued)

(viii) Rental income

Rental income from investment properties is recognised as revenue on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease.  

(ix) Dividend income 

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

(n) Employee benefit costs

(i) The Company is the sponsoring employer of a Group defined contribution pension scheme 
under the control of trustees and administered by a licensed organisation. Contributions are 
recognised as an expense by the employer as incurred. 

(ii) Employee leave entitlements are recognised when they accrue to employees.  A provision is 
made for the estimated liability for vacation leave as a result of services rendered by employees 
up to the reporting date.

(o) Finance costs

Finance costs are recognised using the effective interest method in profit or loss. 

(p) Leases

(i) Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease

At inception of an arrangement, the Group determines whether the arrangement is or contains 
a lease. At inception or on reassessment of an arrangement that contains a lease, the Group 
separates payments and other consideration required by the arrangement into those for 
the lease and those for other elements on the basis of their relative fair values. If the Group 
concludes for a finance lease that it is impracticable to separate the payments reliably, then an 
asset and a liability are recognised at an amount equal to the fair value of the underlying asset; 
subsequently, the liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed finance cost on the 
liability is recognised using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

(ii) Leased assets

Leases of property and equipment that transfer to the Group substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. The leased assets are measured initially 
at an amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease 
payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the assets are accounted for in accordance with 
the accounting policy applicable to that asset. Assets held under other leases are classified as 
operating leases and are not recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position.
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(p) Leases (continued)

(iii) Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the 
total lease expense, over the term of the lease. Minimum lease payments made under finance 
leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding 
liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce 
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

(q) Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial statements 
(referred to in IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures as the “reporting entity” in this case, the Group).

A party is related to the reporting entity if:

(i) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if that person:

(a) has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

(b) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or

(c) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the 
reporting entity.

(ii) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies:

(a) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which means that each 
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(b) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture 
of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(c) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(d) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 
entity.

(e) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan established for the benefit of employees of 
either the reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting entity. 
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43. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(q) Related parties (continued)

(ii) (Continued):

(f) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled, by a person identified in (i).
(g) A person identified in (i)(a) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
(h) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is part, provides key management 

personnel services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between a reporting 
entity and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

(r) Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of the Group, transactions in currencies other than the Group’s 
functional currency, the Jamaica dollar, are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the 
dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in 
foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing at that date. 

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated 
at the rates prevailing at that date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they 
arise.

(s) Share capital

(i) Classification

Ordinary stock units are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other 
assets.

(ii) Share issue costs

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new stock units or to the acquisition of a 
business are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(t) Dividends

Dividends are recorded in the financial statements in the period in which they are declared.
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44. Standards issued but not yet effective

Certain new and amended standards have been issued which are not yet effective for the current year 
and which the Group has not early-adopted. The Group has assessed the relevance of all such new 
standards and amendments to standards with respect to the Group’s operations and has determined 
that the following are likely to have an effect on the financial statements.

• The Group is required to adopt IFRS 9 Financial Instruments from January 1, 2018.  The standard 
replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and sets out requirements 
for recognizing and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and some contracts to buy or 
sell non-financial items.  IFRS 9 contains a new classification and measurement approach for 
financial assets that reflects the business model in which assets are managed and their cash flow 
characteristics.  It contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured 
at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through 
profit or loss (FVTPL).  The standard eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories of held to maturity, 
loans and receivables and available for sale.  Based on its preliminary assessment, the Group does 
not believe that the new classification requirements will have a material impact on its accounting for 
trade receivables, loans and securities purchased under resale agreements.  However, the Group is 
still in the process of its assessment and the final impact is not yet known.

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with a forward-looking ‘expected credit loss’ 
(ECL) model.  This will require considerable judgement about how changes in economic factors 
affect ECLs, which will be determined on a probability-weighted basis.  The new impairment model 
will apply to financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI, except for investments in equity 
instruments.

Under IFRS 9, loss allowances will be measured on either of the following bases:

• 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months 
after the reporting date; and

• Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life 
of a financial instrument.

Lifetime ECL measurement applies if the credit risk of a financial asset at the reporting date has 
increased significantly since initial recognition and 12-month ECL measurement applies if it has not.  
An entity may determine that a financial asset’s credit risk has not increased significantly if the asset 
has low credit risk at the reporting date.  However, lifetime ECL measurement always applies for 
short-term receivables without a significant financing component.

The Group believes that impairment losses are likely to increase and become more volatile for 
assets in the scope of IFRS 9 impairment model.  However, the Group is still in the process of 
determining the likely financial impact on its financial statements.

IFRS 9 will require extensive disclosures, in particular for credit risk and ECLs.  The Group’s 
assessment included an analysis to identify data gaps against current processes and the Group is 
in the process of implementing the system and controls change that it believes will be necessary to 
capture the required data.
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Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 will generally be applied 
retrospectively, except as follows:

• The Group will take advantage of the exemption allowing it not to restate comparative information 
for prior periods with respect to classification and measurement as well as impairment changes.  
Differences in the carrying amounts of financial instruments resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 
will generally be recognized in retained earnings and reserves as at January 1, 2018.

• The following assessments have to be made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that exist 
at the date of initial application:

 - The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held.
 - The designation and revocation of previous designations of certain financial assets as measured 

at FVTPL.
 - The designation of certain investments in equity investments not held for trading as at FVOCI.

• IFRS 15, Revenue From Contracts With Customers, effective for accounting periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2018, replaces IAS 11, Construction Contracts, IAS 18, Revenue, IFRIC 13, 
Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18, 
Transfer of Assets from Customers and SIC-31 Revenue, Barter Transactions Involving Advertising 

Services. It does not apply to insurance contracts, financial instruments or lease contracts, which 
fall in the scope of other IFRSs. It also does not apply if two entities in the same line of business 
exchange non-monetary assets to facilitate sales to other parties. 

The Group will apply a five-step model to determine when to recognise revenue, and at what 
amount. The model specifies that revenue should be recognised when (or as) an entity transfers 
control of goods or services to a customer at the amount to which the entity expects to be entitled. 
Depending on whether certain criteria are met, revenue is recognised at a point in time, when control 
of goods or services is transferred to the customer; or over time, in a manner that best reflects the 
entity’s performance.

There will be new qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements to describe the nature, 
amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers.

The Group has conducted an assessment in order to determine the qualitative and quantitative 
impacts of the implementation of the new revenue recognition standard. Based on this assessment, 
the Group does not expect a material impact due to the transition to IFRS 15. 
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• Amendments to IAS 40, Investments Property, effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018, required an entity to transfer to property to, or from, investment property when 
and only when, there is evidence of a change in use.  A change of use occurs, if property meets, or 
ceases to meet, the definition of investment property.  A change in management’s intentions for the 
use of a property by itself does not constitute evidence of a change in use.

The Group is assessing the impact that this amendment will have on its 2018 financial statements.

• IFRS 16, Leases, which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2019, eliminates the current dual accounting model for lessees, which distinguishes between on-
balance sheet finance leases and off-balance sheet operating leases.  Instead, there is a single, 
on-balance sheet accounting model that is similar to current finance lease accounting.  Companies 
will be required to bring all major leases on-balance sheet, recognising new assets and liabilities.  
The on-balance sheet liability will attract interest; the total lease expense will be higher in the early 
years of a lease even if a lease has fixed regular cash rentals.  Optional lessee exemption will apply 
to short-term leases and for low-value items with a value of US$5,000 or less.

Lessor accounting remains similar to current practice as the lessor will continue to classify leases as 
finance and operating leases.  Finance lease accounting will be based on IAS 17 lease accounting, 
with recognition of net investment in lease comprising lease receivable and residual asset.  Operating 
lease accounting will be based on IAS 17 operating lease accounting.

Early adoption is permitted if IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, is also adopted.

The Group is assessing the impact that this amendment will have on its 2019 financial statements.

• Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, effective  retrospectively for annual periods beginning 
on or after January1, 2019 clarifies the treatment of: 

(i) Prepayment features with negative compensation:  

Financial assets containing prepayment features with negative compensation can now be 
measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) if 
they meet the other relevant requirements of IFRS 9. 

(ii) Modifications to financial liabilities:

If the initial application of IFRS 9 results in a change in accounting policy arising from modified 
or exchanged fixed rate financial liabilities, retrospective application is required, subject to 
particular transitional reliefs. There is no change to the accounting for costs and fees when 
a liability has been modified, but not substantially. These are recognised as an adjustment to 
the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified 
liability.
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• IFRIC 22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration, effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, addresses how to determine the transaction date when 
an entity recognises a non-monetary asset or liability (e.g. non-refundable advance consideration 
in a foreign currency) before recognising the related asset, expense or income. It is not applicable 
when an entity measures the related asset, expense or income or initial recognition at fair value or 
at the fair value of the consideration paid or received at the date of initial recognition of the non-
monetary asset or liability. 

An entity is not required to apply this interpretation to income taxes or insurance contracts that it 
issues or reinsurance contracts held.
The interpretation clarifies that the transaction date is the date on which the company initially 
recognises the prepayment or deferred income arising from the advance consideration. For 
transactions involving multiple payments or receipts, each payment or receipt gives rise to a 
separate transaction date.
The Group is assessing the impact that this interpretation will have on its 2018 financial statements.

• IFRIC 23, Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments, is effective for annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is permitted. IFRIC 23 clarifies the accounting for 
income tax treatments that have yet to be accepted by tax authorities is to be applied to the 
determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax 
rates, when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments under IAS 12.

An entity has to consider whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority would accept the tax 
treatment, or group of tax treatments, that is adopted in its income tax filing.

If the entity concludes that it is probable that the tax authority will accept a particular tax treatment 
in the tax return, the entity will determine taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, 
unused tax credits or tax rates consistently with the tax treatment included in its income tax filings 
and record the same amount in the financial statements. The entity will disclose uncertainty 

If the entity concludes that it is not probable that a particular tax treatment will be accepted, the 
entity has to use the most likely amount or the expected value of the tax treatment when determining 
taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates. The decision 
should be based on which method provides better prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.

If facts and circumstances change, the entity is required to reassess the judgements and estimates 
applied.
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IFRIC 23, Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments (continued)

• IFRIC 23 reinforces the need to comply with existing disclosure requirements regarding:

 - judgements made in the process of applying accounting policy to determine taxable profit (tax 
loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates;

 - assumptions and other estimates used; and

 - potential impact of uncertainties that are not reflected in the financial statements.

The Group is assessing the impact that the standard will have on its 2019 financial statements.
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